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June 30, 2003 2002 2001 2000

Gross revenue $269,524 $181,473 $117,131

Net service revenue 180,075 124,202 84,808

Income from operations 26,204 15,935 8,281

Net income 15,480 8,985 4,644

Earnings per share – diluted $ 1.14 $ .75 $ .43

Working capital $ 57,876 $ 32,008 $ 36,128

Current ratio 2.5 to 1 1.9 to 1 3.2 to 1

Percentage of debt to total capitalization 16% 18% 28%

Shareholders’ equity $116,949 $ 69,975 $ 54,448

Book value per share $ 9.31 $ 6.26 $ 5.15

Common shares outstanding 12,555

$315,605

217,326

21,204 

Income before accounting change 15,480 8,985 4,64412,179 

9,818 

$ .82(1)

$ 69,767

2.7 to 1

23%

$138,764 

$ 10.29

13,487 11,180 10,569

Net Service Revenue

Financial Highlights
TRC Companies, Inc. and subsidiaries

In thousands, except per share data

(in thousands)

2000 2001 2002 2003

Income from Operations
(in thousands)

Earnings Per Share

2000 2001 2002 2003 2000 2001 2002 2003

$84,808

$124,202

$180,075

$217,326

$8,281

$15,935

$26,204

$21,204

$.43

$.75

$1.14

$.82(1)

(1)  Before accounting change

TRC Companies, Inc. is a leading provider of engineering, financial, risk management, and construction

services to large industrial and government customers throughout the United States. TRC's employees

create and implement innovative, customer-focused solutions in three primary markets: environmental,

with emphasis on pollution monitoring, control, and remediation; infrastructure, including planning,

design, security protection, and construction management for land, water, and transportation

developments; and energy, with expertise in licensing, engineering, and construction management for

power generation and distribution.
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To Our Shareholders:

This past year has been exceptionally turbulent in our industry. It has

challenged TRC to continue to deliver outstanding results in markets that have

been uncertain, even stagnant in some cases. However, turbulence drives the

changes that lead to new opportunities. 

Anticipating new waves of opportunity requires vision and experience. 

TRC is known for its leadership turning emerging needs into opportunities 

for growth. Our success in analyzing trends, understanding their implications,

and anticipating the needs of our clients has served us well in both strong 

and challenging markets. Our most innovative solutions, such as the 

Exit Strategy® program, lead the way to whole new ways of thinking about

major industry and social problems. In this report, we’ve highlighted several

examples of innovative TRC solutions where turbulence has created

opportunities to revitalize America’s capital assets, protect our infrastructure,

and enhance the power grid.

In many areas, TRC is positioned to be where the market is going before it 

gets there. This strategy has made TRC a leader in new and niche markets 

that are unanticipated or overlooked by our competitors. The momentum and

energy of these markets drive TRC to look continually to the future. 

Richard D. Ellison
Chairman, President,

and CEO
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Back in 1997, when I became CEO of TRC, my first priority was to develop a strategy

that would enhance TRC’s industry leadership, set us apart from our competitors, and

support revenue and earnings growth for the long term. We were fortunate to begin this

process from a position of strength, with a well-established engineering consulting

business staffed by some of the best people in the industry, and a national reputation for

quality, performance, and reliability. 

One of the key facts that emerged from our strategic review at that time was that, in

addition to the steady expansion of volume we were enjoying in our traditional business,

our clients were urgently seeking solutions to new challenges driven by advances in

technology, changes in government regulations and public opinion, and the emergence of

new markets. We realized that this evolutionary process probably would accelerate in the

years ahead and change the nature of the work our clients would ask us to do. This

created an exciting growth opportunity for TRC. To seize it, we needed the flexibility to

adjust in step with our clients’ evolving needs, and the creativity to provide value-added

solutions to the new challenges we could see on the horizon.

Strategy for Growth

We acted on this insight. We expanded our problem-solving capabilities and human

capital through a combination of carefully targeted acquisitions and internal growth,

focusing on emerging markets that we believed were particularly ripe for innovative

approaches. For example, we added expertise in power generation and distribution 

and infrastructure development to our traditional environmental portfolio. While

continuing to build our existing business and serve established customers with our 

core technical capabilities, we developed and introduced innovative financial and risk

management solutions that added value for our clients and helped us win larger 

projects with higher margins.
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ENHANCING THE NATION’S POWER GRID

America’s economic prosperity and growth is fueled by the availability of

reliable power. This is particularly true with the expanding use of technology

powered by electricity. But the nation’s power delivery grid has not kept up with

demand, and will require billions of dollars of upgrades to avoid the types of

blackouts that recently hit the Northeast. 

In the late 1990s, TRC began planning investments in power delivery engineering. 

In the past year, we added our third acquisition to the TRC power delivery team.

These investments position us to be a player on major programs to enhance the

stability and reliability of the power grid.  

TRC is currently working on a major grid project in southwest Connecticut to

upgrade a power corridor that is taxed to the limit and not adequate to meet

grid reliability standards. One of the TRC companies—E/PRO Engineering— 

is working with Mitsubishi Electric on design, procurement, and construction of major

substations at each end of the corridor. Once complete, stable and reliable service will

be assured for an important region of the country.   

TRC companies are also involved in connecting new, diverse power supplies

to the grid. In two major projects in Texas, TRC is working to connect new wind

generation capacity to the region’s grid. In Washington, DC, TRC has constructed the

Pentagon’s Solar Farm for the U.S. Department of Defense, establishing solar power 

as an energy alternative. 

TRC has long been a national leader in licensing services for power

generating facilities. Through new investments in power engineering, we are now

providing comprehensive solutions for our clients’ power development programs.
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TRC’s consistently stellar growth in recent years shows that our opportunities are 

large and our business plan is sound. Gross revenue has grown at a compounded annual

rate of 30% since 1998, and net service revenue has grown at a compounded annual

rate of 33% during the same time period. Operating margin, a critical performance

indicator, also increased with the expansion of our new programs, driving rapid gains 

in net income and earnings per share. Backlog has steadily increased to a year-end

record of $240 million.

Financial Results

These impressive upward trends were partially interrupted, we believe

temporarily, in fiscal 2003. While gross revenue increased 17% to a record $315.6

million and net service revenue increased 21% to a record $217.3 million for the year,

our bottom-line performance did not keep pace: operating margin on net service revenue

declined to 9.8% for fiscal 2003 from 14.6% for fiscal 2002, and income before the

cumulative effect of an accounting change declined to $12.2 million, or $.82 per diluted

share, from $15.5 million, or $1.14 per diluted share, for the prior year.

The year’s second half was challenging as many of our customers postponed their

decisions regarding new projects in response to the weak and uncertain economy. 

As a result, higher-margin work in a variety of areas developed more slowly than

anticipated. In response, we took a variety of actions to reduce costs, increase

operating efficiencies, and align capacity with the pace of activity. When fully

implemented, these actions are expected to lower operating expenses by approximately

$6 million annually, and to make TRC a more efficient organization better able to

anticipate and control core operations. We were especially careful to avoid cuts that

could adversely affect the Company’s leadership position in market areas that are 

likely to be strong as the recovery takes hold.
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TRC did not lose market share; rather, customer spending in many instances was

restrained until visibility improved. This logjam appears to be easing. For example, in 

the fourth quarter we announced the signing of four Exit Strategy contracts valued at

more than $27 million. Other sizeable projects remain in the pipeline. 

As a result of our cost reduction initiatives and what appear to be the first stirrings of the

long-awaited economic rebound, operating margin and net income increased in the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2003 compared to the third and, as previously mentioned, we ended the

year with record backlog of more than $240 million. We look for further improvement in

our financial results in the new fiscal year, driven primarily by organic growth. 

We are pleased that our investments over the past couple of years to create and develop

growing markets are positioning TRC to deliver the returns we anticipated. The

extraordinary growth we have delivered over the past five years and the Company’s

ability to quickly rebound from temporary setbacks confirm that TRC’s business model

of using our technical and creative problem-solving capabilities to enter higher margin

niche markets will support our aggressive long-term growth objectives.

Creative Problem Solving

We believe that we have just begun to scratch the surface of new market

opportunities where TRC can help customers accomplish increasingly important

programs and successfully confront new challenges.  

ZweigWhite’s 2003 No. 1

Ranking for Hottest Growing

Firm in the Engineering and

Environmental Industry

R
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N
IT

IO
N One of FORTUNE

Magazine’s 100 Fastest

Growing Companies

in 2003

Forbes 200 

Best Small

Companies

Business Week’s 

Top 100 

Hot Growth

Companies
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We are focused on three major market areas—environmental, energy, and

infrastructure—but the work we are doing today is quite different from the work we

were doing just a few years ago. For example, nearly 40% of our revenue and 50% of

our operating earnings for fiscal 2003 were in market areas that did not exist just five

years ago. And since these are generally growing markets, we expect their percentage

contribution to be even greater in the future. Examples of these new areas include:

• Environmental liability transfer (TRC’s Exit Strategy program)

• Planning, engineering, and construction management for electrical transmission

and distribution systems

• Turnkey distributed generation systems

• Infrastructure security

• Information management for niche markets

• Planning, engineering, and construction of energy savings systems

• Financial due diligence for the transfer of energy assets

• Licensing and construction compliance for major natural gas pipelines 

and LNG facilities

As we have in the past, we plan to continue investing in areas that have high potential for

growth and attractive margins. 

A Look Ahead

TRC’s success is driven by the single powerful idea that creative, visionary

thinking generates exceptional results. Over the past few years, through internal

growth and acquisition, we have built a critical mass of technology and human capital—

and a culture of creative problem solving—that has translated into real success in the

marketplace. Our goal is to steadily build TRC into a substantially larger and more

profitable company by balancing organic growth with additional strategic acquisitions.

With our strong position in a variety of attractive markets, and an array of new 

initiatives to drive our growth, we are confident that we can make this happen. 
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REVITALIZING AMERICA’S CAPITAL ASSETS

Our aging infrastructure is often a non-performing and underutilized asset.

Unlocking the value inherent in these assets is complex and demands the most 

creative solutions. 

TRC is working with a major public utility that operated a steam and power generating

plant on prime waterfront Manhattan real estate for more than 150 years. The plant is part

of a nine-acre site that includes an old office building and large underground fuel storage. 

As one of the largest Brownfield redevelopment sites in the nation, The New

York Times described it as a “developer’s dream.” To make that dream a reality,

someone needed to address impacts associated with coal, fuel oil, urban fill, and PCBs at

the site. When a developer offered to buy the property for over $600 million, neither the

buyer nor seller could accept the risks associated with resolving the environmental

liabilities and meeting the schedule for regulatory approval to ensure on-time site delivery.

Using the Exit Strategy® program, the utility was able to resolve the environmental

uncertainty without distracting from the other complex asset transfer issues. They turned

the environmental liability for the site over to TRC at a fixed cost—along with responsibility

for delivering the site to the developer on schedule. TRC is decommissioning the site,

removing asbestos and lead paint, demolishing the plant, and returning the site to a

condition approved for mixed-use development.

TRC pioneered the concept of insured liability transfers to expedite site 

clean-ups and protect companies from an uncertain future of escalating costs.

With state-of-the-art environmental insurance, TRC is protected from potential overruns 

or liabilities from new government requirements and site changes. On this project, TRC

was able to negotiate a voluntary consent order with the regulatory agencies that protects

the developer from any future liability for the environmental conditions at the site. 

When the project is finished, New York City will have a revitalized asset of five million

square feet of office, residential, and retail space in a new waterfront development.
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We expect continued revenue growth and improved operating margin and profitability in

fiscal 2004. Longer term, we are bullish about TRC’s opportunities as we continue to

develop creative new ways to serve our clients that will fuel demand for our services. 

TRC’s success is a team effort. We thank our employees for their hard work and

dedication, our clients for their loyalty and support, and our stockholders for sharing our

commitment to TRC’s strategic plan. We look forward to reporting our progress to you. 

Sincerely,

Richard D. Ellison, Ph.D., P.E.

Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer

PROTECTING AMERICA’S INFRASTRUCTURE

Emerging threats are fundamentally changing how America’s corporations and

public agencies operate, maintain, and secure billions of dollars in capital

infrastructure. Protecting these vital assets and the people around them from 21st

century threats is a complex task.

In Philadelphia, America’s fifth largest city, TRC has been working with a major public

authority that is responsible for critical infrastructure assets that include major

commercial, transportation, and military structures. These assets are distributed across

many miles of densely populated urban terrain and are vital to the economy of the 

region and the Northeast. 

Using the most sophisticated methods available, TRC’s Infrastructure Security

group conducted a comprehensive assessment of threats. Our multidisciplinary

team of security and anti-terrorism experts, professional engineers, and former military

and intelligence personnel provided the client with extensive analysis—including 

modeling of diverse threat attack strategies and structural vulnerabilities. 

TRC then designed and engineered sophisticated security countermeasures to

defeat the identified threats. Our physical and cyber protection solutions included

wide-area access control, enhanced surveillance technologies, integrated crisis

communication and IT systems, as well as the structural hardening and retrofit of

buildings, bridges, ports, and rail facilities.
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PART I

Item 1. Business

TRC Companies, Inc., incorporated in 1971, is a customer-focused company that creates and implements innova-
tive solutions to the challenges facing America’s environmental, energy, infrastructure and security markets. The
Company is a leading provider of technical, financial, risk management and construction services to industry and
government customers across the country. Traditionally, the Company’s work was focused primarily on providing
conventional technical services to commercial and government customers. In early 1998, new Company manage-
ment initiated a growth plan focused on two key areas. First, while maintaining the traditional business, the
Company embarked on a plan to increase growth in economically driven markets. Secondly, it would provide 
higher-value, “problem-solving” services and elevate purchasing decisions in customer organizations from middle
to senior management. This approach has resulted in a superior growth rate and has allowed the Company to 
continuously transform its services to suit the evolving needs of its customers. The Company currently provides
services in the following areas:

Environmental – The Company provides engineering, scientific and technical environmental services to customers
through a national network of over 85 offices. These services have been one of the Company’s historic core
strengths and serve as the foundation for the Company’s Exit Strategy® program.

Environmental services provided by the Company include pollution control, waste management, auditing and
assessment, permitting and compliance, design and engineering, and natural and cultural resource management.
The Company has particular expertise in air quality, emissions control and monitoring; in licensing new and
expanded facilities; and in investigating and cleaning up environmentally impaired sites. While these services are
generally required by the Company’s customers for compliance with federal, state and local environmental laws,
the Company is experiencing an increase in its business due to: (1) the rehabilitation of older business processes to
increase efficiency and productivity; (2) mergers, acquisitions and divestitures and the identification, quantification
and resolution of environmental liabilities associated with past practices; and, (3) the redevelopment of former
industrial properties to meet changing urban demographic patterns. The Company believes these economically
motivated projects, as well as enforcement of environmental laws and regulations, will continue to provide oppor-
tunities to expand and grow its traditional environmental business. In addition, the Company has an information
management group that assists its customers by analyzing their data management requirements and creating soft-
ware and hardware solutions for cost-effective information management systems. 

The Company has developed a unique, innovative method for its customers to outsource their environmental 
remediation activities to the Company. The Company’s Exit Strategy program provides its customers with a cost-
effective alternative to managing their non-core environmental remediation activities. This is especially attractive 
to customers in the following situations:

• Mergers, Acquisitions and Divestitures - In typical transactions, neither buyer nor seller wishes to be responsi-
ble for existing environmental conditions of transferred assets. The Company solves this dilemma by identify-
ing and quantifying the risk and then entering into a contract with both buyer and seller to complete the
remediation.

• Discontinued Operations - When the Company’s customers close facilities or purchase redundant facilities as
part of a business transaction, they are faced with the environmental legacy of the property. By outsourcing
the management of these responsibilities to the Company, our customers can re-allocate resources to ongoing
business operations.

• Multi-Party Superfund Sites - By law, the cleanup of abandoned, environmentally impaired sites is the respon-
sibility of those businesses that sent waste materials to the site during its period of operation. The typically
inefficient and lengthy process of negotiating and managing these cleanups drives up the legal and administra-
tive cost burden for the responsible parties. By taking sole responsibility for the site, the Company essentially
eliminates the additional cost and expedites the schedule for cleanup.

• Brownfields Real Estate Development - The redevelopment of commercially viable but environmentally 
contaminated property is commonly referred to as “brownfields” redevelopment. The Company has, on 
occasion, purchased contaminated property from its customers and is in the process of cleaning up these
properties to increase their market value for eventual sale or redevelopment. The Company does not actively
pursue these sites on its own but generally seeks a real estate development partner with experience in the
local or regional real estate market.
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Regardless of the type of Exit Strategy project undertaken, the Company completes a thorough due diligence
process to understand and quantify the environmental condition of the property. The Company then designs a spe-
cific risk management plan to address the known and unknown risks. This plan includes insurance to adequately
protect the Company and its customers from future risks. The Company’s insurer on these projects is the American
International Group (AIG).

Through its Exit Strategy program, the Company is recognized as a leader in the environmental remediation out-
sourcing market, and expects the market for these projects will continue to grow. The Company has an experi-
enced team of technical and management personnel to continue to develop these opportunities.

Energy/Power – The Company has traditionally provided a variety of technical services to energy and electrical
power customers from offices across the country. In 1998, the Company determined that changes in the energy
industry would create substantial new demand for high quality, responsive services. Since that time, the Company
has established a leadership position in supporting the licensing of large electric generating facilities and re-power-
ing older plants in areas of the country with the highest demand for additional power. In addition, the Company is
providing a variety of technical services in support of large scale wind-powered electric generating projects and
hydroelectric facilities. 

The Company has substantially expanded its energy and power services to meet the growing demand and need for
reliable energy. As discussed below, the Company has established a national capability for permitting, engineering
and construction management services for the natural gas and electric transmission and distribution markets.

The proven long-term supply of natural gas is enabling industry to expand its use of this cleaner fuel source. This
increased demand is in turn fostering expansion of the country’s gas pipeline transmission system. The Company
has one of the leading practices supporting this infrastructure expansion. The Company is also assisting customers
who are developing a new generation of liquid natural gas (LNG) facilities that will provide needed capacity to
meet peak demand cycles.

As the 2003 blackouts in the upper midwest and northeast U.S. demonstrated, the electric transmission system
serving the country has aged and is in need of upgrade. The federal government initiative to balance power supply
and demand more effectively through the multi-state regional transmission organizations is also creating a need for
permitting and engineering services to upgrade the transmission and distribution grid. The Company’s power deliv-
ery engineering and environmental groups are assisting the owners of the transmission grid with upgrading system
capabilities to meet increases in demand, improve reliability, and integrate new sources of electric generation. 

Recognizing that the needs of electrical users in high load demand areas cannot be met solely by new major gener-
ating plants or capital upgrades to the transmission grid, the Company has also expanded services into develop-
ment and oversight of distributed generation projects and energy capacity management consulting. The Company
is currently co-developing a number of distributed generation facilities located at host commercial office and manu-
facturing operations. In addition to maintaining a going-forward equity ownership position, the Company provides
licensing, engineering and development management services for the facilities. This contribution of turnkey services
is aimed toward solving special customer problems, allowing the Company to expand its ability to provide higher
value services.

The Company’s financial transaction management group is assisting customers interested in purchasing or selling
energy assets. These transactions are becoming increasingly more frequent because of the benefits of having securi-
tized assets and the need for capital in segments of the energy industry. The Company’s services for these transac-
tions include identifying available assets for transfer as well as site-related due diligence and environmental compli-
ance services. These evolving activities continually allow the Company to increase the overall value of its services.
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Infrastructure – The Company’s infrastructure development markets are primarily targeted at: (1) the expanding
need for capacity in geographic areas where the population is growing rapidly; and, (2) rehabilitative improve-
ments of overburdened and deteriorating infrastructure systems. Investing in infrastructure projects continues to 
be a primary focus of government and industry due to these drivers. The Company’s infrastructure market focus
areas include:

• Transportation - Planning, design and construction management of road and bridge projects for public 
customers. 

• Land Development - Planning, design and construction management of development projects for municipal
and private customers.

• Water/Wastewater Treatment - Planning, design and construction management for potable water and waste-
water treatment facilities.

• Building Systems - Building automation systems design, central plant design, construction management and
commissioning, and facility energy management program implementation.

• Security - Vulnerability assessment, engineering and structural improvements for public and private infrastruc-
ture facilities, and design and implementation of security and surveillance systems.

• Information Management - Technology strategy and planning, systems design and implementation for public
and private sector customers. 

Currently, much of the Company’s infrastructure work is accomplished through conventional contracting. There is
an increasing trend for customers to prefer design/build or privatization (outsourcing) contracts, and the Company
is pursuing value-added contracting approaches. The Company’s objective is to combine its technical, financial,
and risk management capabilities as a suite of higher-margin, value-added services that enable the Company to
capture larger projects with the potential for greater profitability.

At this time, it is not practicable to report revenue by the environmental, energy/power and infrastructure areas.

Customers

The Company’s customers include companies in the energy, chemical, automotive, petroleum, construction, 
transportation, mining, waste management and other industries, financial institutions, public utilities, and local,
state and federal government agencies. Many of the Company’s commercial customers are major multinational 
corporations. The following are representative of the Company’s customers: 

AES Enterprises Hanson PLC Waste Management
ASARCO Kinder Morgan Williams Kern River
BNSF Lockheed Martin State Departments of
BP/Amoco New York City Transportation
Cisco Systems - School Construction Authority - California
City of Frisco, Texas - Department of Parks - New Jersey
Connecticut Resources Recovery - Department of Transportation - New York

Authority Orange County, CA - Pennsylvania
Consolidated Edison Pfizer - South Carolina
Conoco Phillips PG & E - Virginia
Constellation Energy Sempra Energy - West Virginia
Duke Energy Sentex - Texas
El Paso Energy Shea Homes U.S. Government
Entergy  Sun Oil - EPA
Exxon/Mobil The Irvine Company - DOD
General Electric The Trump Organization - FAA
General Motors Unocal

For fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001, agencies of the U.S. Government (principally the U.S. Environmental Protection
Agency and the U.S. Department of Defense) accounted for 6%, 5% and 7%, respectively, of the Company’s net
service revenue. No customer represented 10% or more of the Company’s net service revenue in any of those years.
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Marketing and Sales

The Company believes that it attracts customers primarily on the basis of its reputation for providing value-added
and cost-effective solutions to customer needs and its ability to respond to meet customer schedules. The marketing
activities for the Company’s services are generally conducted by senior professional staff members and executives
(seller-doers) who are recognized experts in our business areas and regularly meet with existing and potential cus-
tomers to obtain new business. These activities are typically conducted through the Company’s network of regional
resource centers for local customers and by market program leaders for national customers. In addition, corporate
and subsidiary marketing departments coordinate representation at trade shows, prepare sales literature and 
develop and place advertising.

During the past three years a key element of the Company’s marketing and sales activities has been to focus on the
highest level managers and decision makers (e.g. CEOs, CFOs) of our customers. This approach has been success-
ful in allowing the Company to demonstrate its special value-added services to buyers who are prepared to pay
higher margins on larger projects, when the Company can assist them in accomplishing their most important
objectives. This approach will be a continuing and expanding strategy to assist the Company in achieving greater
growth and higher margins than the norm.

Backlog

At June 30, 2003, the Company’s net contract backlog (excluding the estimated costs of pass-through charges) was
approximately $240 million, as compared to approximately $215 million at June 30, 2002. The Company expects
that approximately 60% of this backlog will be completed in fiscal 2004. In addition to this net contract backlog,
the Company holds open order contracts from various customers and government agencies. As work under these
contracts is authorized and funded, the Company includes this portion in its net contract backlog. While most 
contracts contain cancellation provisions, the Company is unaware of any material work included in backlog
which will be canceled or delayed.

Employees

As of June 30, 2003, the Company had approximately 2,200 full- and part-time employees. Approximately 85%
of these employees are primarily engaged in performing environmental, power and infrastructure engineering and
consulting, financial, risk management, construction management and information management services for 
customers. Many of these employees have master’s degrees or their equivalent and a number have Ph.D. degrees. 
The Company’s professional staff includes program managers, professional engineers and scientists, construction 
specialists, computer programmers, systems analysts, attorneys and others with degrees and experience that enable
the Company to provide a diverse range of services. The balance of the Company’s employees are engaged pri-
marily in executive, administrative and support activities. None of the Company’s employees are represented by a
union. The Company considers its relations with its employees to be very good.

Competition

The markets for many of the Company’s services are highly competitive. There are numerous professional architec-
tural, engineering and consulting firms and other organizations which offer many of the services offered by the
Company. The Company is subject to direct competition with respect to the services it provides from many other
firms, ranging from small local firms to large national firms having substantially greater financial, management
and marketing resources than the Company. Competitive factors include reputation, performance, price, geo-
graphic location and availability of technically skilled personnel.

However, the majority of the Company’s work represents repeat orders from long-term customers because the
Company focuses on market areas where it can be a leading provider due to staff skills, reputation, financial
strength and/or geographic presence. For example, the Company believes that it is one of the top two or three
providers of licensing services for the large energy business. Further, the Company believes that it is the market
leader in providing complete outsourcing of site remediation services through its Exit Strategy program. In general,
competition is reduced when the Company can provide value-added, high-level, problem-solving services to senior
management incorporating a combination of technical, risk management and financial support services.
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Government Contracts

The Company has contracts with agencies of the U.S. Government which are subject to examination and renegoti-
ation. Contracts and other records of the Company have been examined through June 30, 1998. The Company
believes that adjustments resulting from such examination or renegotiation proceedings, if any, will not have a
material impact on the Company’s operating results, financial condition or cash flows.

Regulatory Matters

The Company’s businesses are subject to various rules and regulations at the federal, state and local government
levels. The Company believes that it is in compliance with these rules and regulations. The Company has the
appropriate licenses to bid and perform work in the locations in which it operates. The Company has not experi-
enced any significant limitations on its business as a result of regulatory, bonding or insurance requirements. 
The Company does not believe any changes in law or changes in industry practice would limit bidding on future
projects.

Patents, Trademarks and Licenses

The Company has a number of trademarks, service marks, copyrights and licenses, none of which are considered
material to the Company’s business as a whole.

Environmental and Other Considerations

The Company does not believe that its compliance with federal, state and local laws and regulations relating 
to the protection of the environment will have any material effect on capital expenditures, earnings or competitive
position. 

Item 2. Properties

The Company provides its services through a network of over 85 offices located nationwide. The Company leases
approximately 675,000 square feet of office and commercial space to support these operations. In addition, a 
subsidiary of the Company owns a 26,000 square foot office/warehouse building in Austin, Texas. These proper-
ties are adequately maintained and are suitable and adequate for the business activities conducted therein. In 
connection with the performance of certain Exit Strategy projects, affiliates of the Company have taken title to
sites on which those activities are being performed.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company and its subsidiaries are not a party to any pending legal proceedings in which an adverse decision, in
the opinion of the Company, would have a material adverse effect upon the Company.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders

None.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters

The Company’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “TRR”. The 
following table sets forth the high and low per share prices for the common stock for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2003 and 2002 as reported on the New York Stock Exchange. 

Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002
High Low High Low

First Quarter $21.35 $12.90 $31.10 $19.47
Second Quarter 17.93 9.60 37.33 24.09
Third Quarter 15.10 12.49 33.50 21.47
Fourth Quarter 15.87 10.60 28.75 19.20

On October 10, 2003, there were approximately 4,000 holders of the Company’s common stock, of which 302
were shareholders of record.

To date the Company has not paid any cash dividends on its common stock. The payment of dividends in the
future will be subject to the financial condition, capital requirements and earnings of the Company. However,
future earnings are expected to be used for expansion of the Company’s operations, and cash dividends are not
likely for the foreseeable future.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of June 30, 2003 for compensation plans under which equity securi-
ties of the Company are authorized for issuance:

Number of securities to Weighted average
be issued upon exercise exercise price of Number of securities
of outstanding options, outstanding options, remaining available

Plan category warrants and rights warrants and rights for future issuance
Equity compensation plans
approved by security holders –
TRC Stock Option Plan 2,636,406 $11.08 1,033,774
Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders –
none – – –
Total 2,636,406 $11.08 1,033,774
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table provides summarized information with respect to the operations of the Company.
(in thousands, except per share data)

Statements of Income
Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Gross revenue $315,605 $269,524 $181,473 $117,131 $78,223

Less subcontractor costs 
and direct charges 98,279 89,449 57,271 32,323 20,890

Net service revenue 217,326 180,075 124,202 84,808 57,333
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of services 184,489 145,263 100,587 70,619 48,073
General and administrative expenses 6,491 5,151 3,909 2,991 2,462
Depreciation and amortization 5,142 3,457 3,771 2,917 2,468

196,122 153,871 108,267 76,527 53,003
Income from operations 21,204 26,204 15,935 8,281 4,330
Interest expense 1,400 1,136 1,541 1,024 507
Income before taxes 19,804 25,068 14,394 7,257 3,823
Federal and state income 

tax provision 7,625 9,588 5,409 2,613 1,376
Income before accounting change 12,179 15,480 8,985 4,644 2,447
Cumulative effect of accounting change,

net of income taxes of $1,478(1) (2,361) – – – –
Net income 9,818 15,480 8,985 4,644 2,447
Dividend and accretion charges 

on preferred stock 766 377 – – –
Net income available to

common shareholders $ 9,052 $ 15,103 $ 8,985 $ 4,644 $ 2,447
Basic earnings per common share:

Before accounting change $.87 $1.26 $.83 $.45 $.24
Cumulative effect of 

accounting change (.18) – – – –
$.69 $1.26 $.83 $.45 $.24

Diluted earnings per common share:
Before accounting change $.82 $1.14 $.75 $.43 $.24
Cumulative effect of 

accounting change (.17) – – – –
$.65 $1.14 $.75 $.43 $.24

Average common shares outstanding:
Basic 13,090 12,025 10,854 10,268 10,173
Diluted 13,917 13,571 11,935 10,785 10,259

Cash dividends declared 
per common share None None None None None

Balance Sheets at June 30,
Assets $260,586 $203,852 $127,672 $ 94,208 $66,072
Debt 44,959 24,353 15,005 21,300 7,900
Redeemable preferred stock 14,711 14,603 – – –
Shareholders’ equity 138,764 116,949 69,975 54,448 46,988

(1) See Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s Discussion and Analysis contains statements that are forward-looking. These statements are based
upon current expectations and assumptions that are subject to risks and uncertainties. Actual results could differ
materially due to a number of factors. See the discussion in “Forward-Looking Statements” on page 25.

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America. These principles require the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
amounts reported and disclosed in the financial statements and related notes. Actual results could differ from these
estimates and assumptions. Management uses its best judgment in the assumptions used to value these estimates,
which are based on current facts and circumstances, prior experience and other assumptions that are believed to be
reasonable. The Company’s accounting policies are described in Note 2 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements contained in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Management believes the following critical
accounting policies reflect the more significant judgments and estimates used in preparation of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements and are the policies which are most critical in the portrayal of the Company’s
financial position and results of operations:

Long-term contracts: The Company recognizes contract revenue in accordance with American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type and Certain
Production-Type Contracts”. The Company records revenue on its cost-type and time and material contracts based
upon direct labor costs and other direct contract costs incurred. The Company has fixed price Exit Strategy con-
tracts to remediate environmental conditions at contaminated sites under which the Company and its customers
are protected against cost overruns by insurance policies. Revenue (and related costs) from these fixed price con-
tracts is recognized using the efforts-expended, percentage-of-completion method of accounting based on total
costs incurred to date as compared to total costs estimated at completion. Contract costs include direct labor costs,
subcontractor costs, other direct costs and indirect costs. Prior to fiscal 2003, the Company used the efforts-
expended, percentage-of-completion method based on direct labor costs, but for contracts where subcontractor
costs resulted in a more meaningful measure of progress towards completion, they were considered for inclusion in
labor costs. The Company’s method of revenue recognition requires the Company to prepare estimates of costs to
complete for contracts in progress. In making such estimates, judgments are required to evaluate contingencies,
such as potential variances in schedule and labor and other contract costs, liability claims, contract disputes or
achievement of contractual performance standards. Changes in total estimated contract costs and losses, if any, are
recognized in the period they are determined.

Allowances for doubtful accounts: Allowances for doubtful accounts are maintained for estimated losses resulting
from the inability of our customers to make required payments. If the financial condition of customers were to
deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

Income taxes: At June 30, 2003, the Company had approximately $4.7 million of deferred income tax benefits.
The realization of a portion of these benefits is dependent on the Company’s estimates of future taxable income
and its tax planning strategies. Management believes that sufficient taxable income will be earned in the future to
realize deferred income tax benefits; accordingly, no valuation allowance has been recorded. Additionally, the 
realization of these deferred income tax benefits can be impacted by changes to tax codes, statutory tax rates and
future taxable income levels.

Business acquisitions: Assets and liabilities acquired in business combinations are recorded at their estimated fair
values at the acquisition date. At June 30, 2003, the Company had approximately $102.7 million of goodwill, 
representing the cost of acquisitions in excess of fair values assigned to the underlying net assets of acquired com-
panies. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets”, goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have indefinite lives are not amortized, but are subject
to annual impairment testing. The assessment of goodwill involves the estimation of the fair value of the
Company’s “reporting unit”, as defined by SFAS No. 142. Management completed this assessment during the 
second quarter of fiscal 2003 based on the best information available as of the date of assessment and determined
that no impairment existed. There can be no assurance that future events will not result in impairments of good-
will or other assets.
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Results of Operations

The Company derives its revenue from fees for providing engineering and consulting services. The types of 
contracts with our customers and the approximate percentage of net service revenue (NSR) for the year ended 
June 30, 2003 from each contract type are as follows:

• Time and material 45%

• Fixed price or lump sum 33%

• Cost-type with various fee arrangements 22%

In the course of providing its services, the Company routinely subcontracts drilling, laboratory analyses, construc-
tion equipment and other services. These costs are passed directly through to customers and, in accordance with
industry practice, are included in gross revenue. Because subcontractor costs and direct charges can vary signifi-
cantly from project to project, the Company considers NSR, which is gross revenue less subcontractor costs and
direct charges, as its primary measure of revenue growth.

The following table presents the percentage relationships of items in the consolidated statements of income to NSR:

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001
Net service revenue 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of services 84.9 80.7 81.0 
General and administrative expenses 3.0 2.8 3.2 
Depreciation and amortization 2.4 1.9 3.0 

Income from operations 9.7 14.6 12.8 
Interest expense 0.6 0.7 1.2 
Income before taxes 9.1 13.9 11.6 
Federal and state income tax provision 3.5 5.3 4.4 
Income before accounting change 5.6 8.6 7.2
Cumulative effect of accounting change (1.1) – –
Net income 4.5 8.6 7.2
Dividends and accretion charges on preferred stock 0.3 0.2 –
Net income available to common shareholders 4.2% 8.4% 7.2%

2003 Compared to 2002

The revenue growth trend established in fiscal 1998 continued for the sixth consecutive year. Gross revenue 
increased $46.1 million, or 17.1%, to $315.6 million in fiscal 2003, from $269.5 million in fiscal 2002. NSR
increased $37.3 million, or 20.7%, to $217.3 million in fiscal 2003, from $180.1 million in fiscal 2002. The 
fiscal 2003 NSR growth was entirely attributable to acquisitions. Approximately 104% of NSR growth for fiscal
2003 was from acquisitions while organic (existing business) NSR decreased by 4% compared to last year.
Management’s goal continues to be to provide a reasonable balance between organic and acquisition growth 
over a several year period.

Income from operations decreased by $5.0 million to $21.2 million in fiscal 2003 compared to $26.2 million last
year. Acquisitions provided approximately $5.1 million of operating income growth, while operating income from
organic activities decreased by approximately $10.1 million compared to last year. Management’s objective is to 
also maintain a reasonable balance over time between increases in income from operations derived from organic 
and acquisition growth. For example, for fiscal years 2000 through 2002, income from operations increases from
organic and acquisition growth were 52% and 48%, respectively. The inability to achieve this balance this year 
(as well as the increase in cost of services as a percentage of NSR) was due to a reduction in the utilization of the
Company’s staff related to three primary factors as follows:

• challenging economic conditions which affected several of the Company’s operating centers. Until this fiscal
year, these types of market changes were mitigated by increases in higher-margin business. The area most 
affected was the transportation infrastructure market where the Company relies on funding from state and 
local government entities;

TRC 2003 Form 10-K 1 9



• the delay in new contract awards for Exit Strategy and other higher-margin programs attributable to economic
conditions, general customer uncertainty regarding capital investments and unusual winter conditions; and

• costs associated with substantial hiring and project investments the Company made in key markets which 
are expected to grow in spite of current economic conditions. Examples include: the planning, design and
installation of electric power transmission and distribution systems and the installation of distributed genera-
tion power systems; assisting customers in the planning and design of infrastructure security systems; assisting
customers in evaluating financial aspects of acquiring or divesting energy related assets; and expansion into
the niche market of manufactured gas plant site remediation.

Management has implemented actions to reduce costs, increase operational efficiencies and align capacity with 
the current pace of activity. As these actions yield results, and recent investments increasingly yield positive gains,
management expects that a closer balance between organic and acquisition growth will again be realized. 

General and administrative expenses (G&A) increased approximately 26.0% in fiscal 2003 primarily due to addi-
tional costs necessary to support the Company’s growth resulting from acquisitions as well as increased costs for
audit and legal services. However, as a percentage of NSR, G&A expenses only increased to 3.0% in fiscal 2003
from 2.8% in fiscal 2002. This demonstrates the Company’s ability to generate and manage the increased revenue
without adding a proportional amount of overhead, resulting in higher margins for all services performed. 

Depreciation and amortization expense increased approximately 48.7% in fiscal 2003. This increase was primarily
attributable to the additional depreciation expense of capital expenditures made throughout the year, the amortiza-
tion expense related to identifiable intangibles from acquisitions, as well as the additional depreciation expense
associated with acquisitions completed in fiscal 2003 and 2002.

Interest expense increased by approximately 23.2% in fiscal 2003 compared to last year, primarily due to higher
average borrowings outstanding against the Company’s revolving credit facility to finance acquisitions. The
Company’s percentage of debt to capitalization ratio of 22.7% continues to remain relatively low, reflecting 
management’s conservative debt philosophy.

The provision for federal and state income taxes reflects an effective rate of 38.5% in fiscal 2003 compared to
38.3% in fiscal 2002. This small increase was primarily due to higher state income taxes. The Company believes
that there will be sufficient taxable income in future periods to enable utilization of available deferred income tax
benefits.

The Company changed its method of accounting for fixed price contracts, effective July 1, 2002. The cumulative
effect of the change decreased net income by $2,361 (net of income taxes of $1,478) or $.17 per diluted share,
which was retroactively reflected in the first quarter of fiscal 2003. Before the cumulative effect adjustment, this
accounting change had the effect of increasing revenue, net income and diluted earnings per share in fiscal 2003 by
$2,451, $1,507 and $.11, respectively.

2002 Compared to 2001

Gross revenue increased $88.1 million, or 48.5%, to $269.5 million in fiscal 2002, from $181.5 million in fiscal
2001. NSR increased $55.9 million, or 45%, to $180.1 million in fiscal 2002, from $124.2 million in fiscal 2001.
These increases were due to a combination of internal growth arising out of increased demand for the Company’s
services and the additional revenue from acquisitions made in fiscal 2002 and 2001. 

NSR from acquired companies is considered part of acquisition growth during the twelve months following the
date acquired. Approximately 83% of the NSR growth for fiscal 2002 was from acquisitions, while, as discussed
on the following page, operating income growth for fiscal 2002 was greater from organic activities. These 
characteristics were due to:

• The relatively larger size of the two recently acquired companies, compared to the Company’s historically
smaller size acquisitions.

• The seasonality of the largest acquisition (SITE-Blauvelt), which added significant NSR with relatively small
operating income during the winter period.

• Increased margins provided by the Company’s organic business activities.

Cost of services increased 44.4% in fiscal 2002 compared to 2001 due to the increase in NSR.
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General and administrative expenses (G&A) increased approximately 31.8% in fiscal 2002 primarily from addi-
tional costs necessary to support the Company’s internal and acquisition growth. However, as a percentage of
NSR, G&A expenses decreased from 3.2% in fiscal 2001 to 2.8% in fiscal 2002. This decrease was due to the
Company’s ability to generate and manage the increased revenue without adding a proportional amount of over-
head, resulting in higher margins for all services performed. 

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased approximately 8.3% in fiscal 2002. This decrease was primarily
due to the Company’s early adoption of SFAS No. 142 on July 1, 2001. In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the
Company no longer amortizes goodwill. The decrease associated with the adoption of SFAS No. 142 was, how-
ever, partially offset by an increase in depreciation expense primarily associated with acquisitions completed in 
fiscal 2002 and 2001.

Income from operations increased approximately 64.4% to $26.2 million in fiscal 2002, from $15.9 million in 
fiscal 2001. Additionally, the Company’s operating income margin increased to 14.6% from 12.8% during the
same period. Approximately 54% of the fiscal 2002 operating income growth was from organic activities. The
remaining 46% of operating income growth was from acquisitions completed during fiscal 2002. The favorable
organic growth percentage reflects the Company’s successful efforts to obtain higher margin revenue for its 
services. The improvement in operating income performance was primarily due to: 

• The Company’s focus toward higher margin, economically driven markets; 

• The growth in revenue, without comparable increases in overhead; and 

• The favorable impact resulting from the adoption of SFAS No. 142.

Interest expense decreased by approximately 26.3% in fiscal 2002 primarily due to lower average interest rates
throughout the year. The Company’s percentage of debt to capitalization ratio was 16%.

The provision for federal and state income taxes reflected an effective rate of 38.3% in fiscal 2002 compared to an
effective rate of 37.6% in fiscal 2001. This increase was primarily due to an increase in the federal income tax rate
bracket as a result of the Company’s income growth. The Company believes that there will be sufficient taxable
income in future periods to enable utilization of available deferred income tax benefits.

Impact of Inflation

The Company’s operations have not been materially affected by inflation or changing prices because of the short-
term nature of many of its contracts and the fact that most contracts of a longer term are subject to adjustment or
have been priced to cover anticipated increases in labor and other costs.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Company primarily relies on cash from operations and financing activities, including borrowings based upon
the strength of its balance sheet, to fund operations. The Company’s liquidity is assessed in terms of its overall
ability to generate cash to fund its operating and investing activities and to reduce debt. Of particular importance
in the management of liquidity are cash flows generated from operating activities, acquisitions, capital expenditure
levels and an adequate bank line of credit. 

Cash flows from operating activities increased to approximately $12.1 million in fiscal 2003, compared to $6.3
million last year. In fiscal 2003, the cash provided by operating activities was primarily generated by net income
and the non-cash charges against income for the cumulative effect of the accounting change and charges for 
depreciation and amortization. As shown in the consolidated statement of cash flows, additional cash flow related
factors included changes in: accounts receivable; long-term insurance receivable; billings in advance of revenue
earned; income taxes payable; and several lesser items. 

As a result of the above factors, some periods have a high operating cash flows to net income relationship while in
others, the relationship is much lower. Over longer time periods, the effect tends to be normalized with an overall
positive operating cash flows trend. This is illustrated by the variation in operating cash flows for fiscal years
2001, 2002 and 2003.

Cash flows from accounts receivable (before the effect of acquisitions) increased by $0.3 million, compared to a
decrease of $8.4 million in fiscal 2002. Accounts receivable include both: (1) billed receivables associated with
invoices submitted for work previously completed and (2) unbilled receivables (work in progress). The unbilled
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receivables are primarily related to work performed in the last month of the fiscal year. The magnitude of the
accounts receivable for a professional services company is typically evaluated as days sales outstanding (DSO),
which is calculated by dividing both current and long-term receivables by the most recent six-month average of
daily gross revenue. During fiscal 2003, the Company’s DSO averaged 113 days. Management’s long-term goal is
to reduce DSO to 100 – 105 days.

Billings in advance of revenue earned represents amounts collected in accordance with contractual terms before the
work is performed, primarily on Exit Strategy contracts. These payments provide the Company with an advance
source of cash for one to several years. During years when the amount of payments from Exit Strategy contracts
exceeds the amount of revenue recognized as work is performed on the contracts, billings in advance of revenue
earned will increase and thereby provide operating cash flows. For instance, during fiscal 2001, the increase in
billings in advance of revenue earned contributed $7.6 million towards the total cash provided by operating 
activities. During years when the amount of revenue recognized from work performed exceeds the amount of 
payments from Exit Strategy contracts, billings in advance of revenue earned will decrease and reduce operating
cash flows. During fiscal 2002, the decrease in billings in advance of revenue earned reduced operating cash flows
by $4.2 million from the prior year. During fiscal 2003, the decrease in operating cash flows from billings in
advance of revenue earned was $1.5 million from the prior year.

For fiscal 2003, operating cash flows increased by non-cash charges for depreciation and amortization of $5.1 
million. Other non-cash items include insurance recoverable and environmental remediation liability. The net non-
cash impact of these two related items for fiscal 2003 was $0.1 million. These items relate to certain Exit Strategy
contracts where the Company enters into a consent decree with government authorities assuming the obligation 
for the settling responsible parties’ environmental remediation liability for the site, which is offset by a fully funded
remediation finite cost cap insurance policy provided by American International Group (AIG). Each insurance 
policy provides protection against potential increases in the cost of a project.

Upon signing of each contract with a finite cost cap insurance policy, a majority of the contract price is directly
deposited in a restricted account held by AIG. AIG then pays the Company from the deposited funds as work is
performed. The long-term insurance receivable is associated with amounts held by AIG for work performed, but
which are currently not yet payable under the terms of the policy. These amounts will be paid as the Company
completes work on the project. The effect on periodic operating cash flows will vary depending upon the mix of
work performed, but not yet payable, and amounts reimbursed to the Company by AIG. For fiscal 2003, the 
long-term insurance receivable item resulted in a cash flow decrease of $1.8 million.

Finally, operating cash flows for fiscal 2003 decreased by $3.2 million for income taxes payable primarily related
to the fiscal 2002 liability and by $1.2 million for accrued compensation and benefits primarily related to the 
timing of the payroll cycles.

Cash flows used in investing activities have historically consisted of payments for acquisitions, capital expenditures
for additional information technology and other equipment to support business growth, and investments in uncon-
solidated affiliates. During fiscal 2003, the Company’s cash flows used in investing activities of approximately
$25.6 million primarily consisted of approximately $19.2 million for new acquisitions and additional purchase
price payments on acquisitions completed in prior years, and approximately $5.5 million for capital expenditures.

During fiscal 2003, the Company’s financing activities provided cash of $17 million to primarily support investing
activities. This cash was primarily provided by net borrowings from the Company’s credit facility.

The Company maintains a banking arrangement with Wachovia Bank, N.A., in syndication with two additional
banks, which provides a revolving credit facility of up to $50 million to support short-term operating and investing
activities. Borrowings under the agreement bear interest at Wachovia’s base rate or the Eurodollar rate plus or
minus applicable margins and are due and payable in March 2005 when the agreement expires. Borrowings under
the agreement are collateralized by accounts receivable. At June 30, 2003 outstanding borrowings pursuant to the
agreement were $41 million, at an average interest rate of 2.9%.

The credit facility provides for affirmative and negative covenants that restrict, among other things, the Company’s
ability to incur other indebtedness, dispose of assets, pay dividends on its common stock and make investments. In
addition, the agreement includes certain restrictive covenants, including the minimum ratio of adjusted EBITDA to
interest expense plus the current portion of long-term debt and the minimum ratio of adjusted current assets to
adjusted total liabilities.
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The Company was in compliance with all covenants as of June 30, 2003. The agreement was amended on 
June 30, 2003 to reduce the required minimum ratio of adjusted EBITDA to interest expense plus the current 
portion of long-term debt at June 30, 2003 and for each quarterly period thereafter through March 31, 2004. 
The amendment also reduces the required minimum ratio by which adjusted current assets shall exceed adjusted
total liabilities for the remainder of the agreement. The Company expects that it will meet all applicable quarterly
financial tests contained in the amended agreement in fiscal 2004.

We expect that the cash generated from operations, the cash on hand at June 30, 2003 and available borrowings
under the revolving credit facility will be sufficient to meet the Company’s cash requirements for currently antici-
pated activities. If the Company pursues acquisitions or investments in the future in which the potential cash con-
sideration approaches or exceeds the availability of current sources, the Company would either increase its lending
facility or pursue additional financing.

Contractual Obligations

The following table sets forth, as of June 30, 2003, certain information concerning the Company’s obligations to
make future payments under contracts, such as debt and lease agreements (dollars in thousands):

Payments due by period
Less than 1 - 3 3 - 5 More than

Contractual Obligations Total 1 year years years 5 years
Long-term debt $41,000 $ – $41,000 $ – $ –
Subordinated notes 3,220 1,494 1,726 – –
Operating leases 46,105 11,006 18,210 9,876 7,013
Capitalized lease obligations 739 400 287 42 10

Total contractual obligations $91,064 $12,900 $61,223 $9,918 $7,023

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has operating leases for most of its office facilities and certain equipment. Rental expense for oper-
ating leases were approximately $11.4 million in fiscal 2003; $8.1 million in fiscal 2002; and $5.9 million in fiscal
2001. Minimum operating lease obligations payable in future years are presented above in Contractual
Obligations. 

New Accounting Guidance

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset
Retirement Obligations”. SFAS No. 143 addresses accounting and reporting for obligations associated with the
retirement of tangible long-lived assets and the associated asset retirement costs. Under SFAS No. 143, the
Company will report, as appropriate, all legal obligations associated with the retirement of long-lived assets that
result from acquisition, construction, development, and the normal operation of long-lived assets. The standard
was effective July 1, 2002 for the Company. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the
Company’s financial statements. 

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived
Assets”. SFAS No. 144 addresses accounting and reporting for the impairment or disposal of long-lived assets. This
standard supersedes SFAS No. 121, but retains the fundamental provisions of SFAS No. 121, as well as sets new
criteria for asset classifications and establishes a broader definition with respect to presentation of discontinued
operations. The standard was effective July 1, 2002 for the Company. The adoption of this standard did not have
a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44 and 64, Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections”. The purpose of this standard is to rescind previously issued
SFAS Nos. 4, 44 and 64, and to amend SFAS No. 13. SFAS Nos. 4 and 64 relate to reporting gains and losses from
extinguishment of debt, SFAS No. 44 concerns accounting of intangible assets of motor carriers, and SFAS No. 13,
“Accounting for Leases”, was amended to eliminate an inconsistency between the required accounting for sale-
leaseback transactions and the required accounting for certain lease modifications that have economic effects that
are similar to sale-leaseback transactions. The provisions related to SFAS No. 13 are effective for transactions
occurring after May 15, 2002, and the remaining provisions of the standard are effective for fiscal years beginning
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after May 15, 2002. The standard was effective July 1, 2002 for the Company. The adoption of this standard did
not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities”.
This standard addresses financial accounting and reporting for costs associated with exit or disposal activities and
nullifies Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee
Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (Including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring)”.
The provisions of this standard were effective for exit or disposal activities that were initiated after December 31,
2002. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others” (FIN 45). FIN 45 clarifies the existing dis-
closure requirements for most guarantees, including loan guarantees such as standby letters of credit. It also clari-
fies that at the time a company issues a guarantee, the company must recognize an initial liability for the fair value,
or market value, of the obligations it assumes under the guarantee and must disclose that information in its interim
and annual financial statements. The initial recognition and initial measurement provisions apply on a prospective
basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The adoption of this interpretation did not have 
a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

In November 2002, the EITF reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21, “Multiple-Deliverable Revenue
Arrangements”. EITF No. 00-21 addresses how to account for revenue arrangements with multiple deliverables
and provides guidance relating to when such arrangements should be divided into components for revenue recog-
nition purposes. The consensus is effective for revenue agreements entered into in fiscal periods beginning after
June 15, 2003 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently reviewing the provisions of this issue 
and assessing their impact.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and
Disclosure – an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123”. This standard amends SFAS No. 123 to provide alterna-
tive methods of voluntarily transitioning to the fair-value based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. SFAS No. 148 also amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require disclosure of the
method used to account for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method on reported results
in both annual and interim financial statements. The Company adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No.
148 in the quarter ended December 31, 2002, when the standard became effective for the Company. The Company
has no current intention to change its policy of accounting for stock-based compensation. 

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46). FIN 46
requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity
investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient
equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. The consolidation requirements apply to entities created before February 1, 2003 in the first interim or
annual period ending after December 15, 2003. Certain of the disclosure requirements apply in all financial state-
ments issued after January 31, 2003, regardless of when the variable interest entity was established. No additional
disclosures were required by the Company. The adoption of this interpretation is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities”, which amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments,
including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities under SFAS No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”. SFAS No. 149, which is to be applied
prospectively, is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, and for hedging relationships
designated after June 30, 2003. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the
Company’s results of operations or financial position. 

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics
of Both Liabilities and Equity”, which establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain finan-
cial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that an issuer classify a financial
instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances) and is effective for instruments
entered into or modified after May 31, 2003 and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of SFAS No. 150
will have on its financial statements.
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Forward-Looking Statements

Certain statements in this report may be forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Such statements are based on man-
agement’s current estimates, expectations and projections about the factors discussed. By their nature, such for-
ward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties. The Company has attempted to identify such statements
using words such as “may”, “expects”, “plans”, “anticipates”, “believes”, “estimates”, or other words of similar
import. The Company cautions the reader that there may be events in the future that management is not able to
accurately predict or control which may cause actual results to differ materially from the expectations described in
the forward-looking statements, including the following examples: 

• increase in competition by foreign and domestic competitors;

• availability of qualified engineers and other professional staff needed to perform contracts;

• continuation of income from core activities to finance growth;

• availability of environmental insurance for certain Exit Strategy projects;

• the timing of new awards and the funding of such awards;

• the ability of the Company to meet project performance or schedule requirements;

• continuation of regulatory enforcement requirements for a portion of the Company’s services;

• cost overruns on fixed, maximum or unit priced contracts;

• the outcome of pending and future litigation and government proceedings;

• the cyclical nature of the individual markets in which the Company’s customers operate;

• the successful closing and/or subsequent integration of any merger or acquisition transaction; and,

• the ability of the Company to raise capital in the debt or equity markets.

The preceding list is not all-inclusive, and the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update any forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The Company’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates relates primarily to borrowings under the
Company’s revolving credit agreement. These borrowings bear interest at variable rates and the fair value of this
indebtedness is not significantly affected by changes in market interest rates. An effective increase or decrease of
10% in the current effective interest rate under the revolving credit facility would not have a material effect on the
Company’s operating results, financial condition or cash flows.
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Independent Auditors‘ Report

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of:

TRC Companies, Inc.
Windsor, Connecticut

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of TRC Companies, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
Company) as of June 30, 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity
and cash flows for the year then ended. Our audit also included the financial statement schedule for the year ended
June 30, 2003 listed in the Index at 15 (a)(2). These consolidated financial statements and financial statement
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall finan-
cial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of TRC Companies, Inc. and subsidiaries as of June 30, 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash
flows for the year then ended, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America. Also, in our opinion, such 2003 financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic
2003 consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set
forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method for measuring
progress under the percentage of completion method of accounting for long-term fixed price contracts effective
July 1, 2002.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Costa Mesa, California

October 14, 2003
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Report of Independent Auditors

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of TRC Companies, Inc.

In our opinion, the consolidated balance sheet as of June 30, 2002, and the related consolidated statements of
income, cash flows, and changes in shareholders’ equity for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001 present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of TRC Companies, Inc. and its subsidiaries at June 30, 2002 and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. In addition, in our opinion, the financial
statement schedule listed in the accompanying index presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein for the years ended June 30, 2002 and 2001 when read in conjunction with the related consolidated
financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial
statement schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

As discussed in Notes 4 and 5, effective July 1, 2001, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 141, “Business Combinations”, and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets”.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Hartford, Connecticut

August 26, 2002
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

In thousands, except per share data

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001
Gross revenue $315,605 $269,524 $181,473

Less subcontractor costs and direct charges 98,279 89,449 57,271
Net service revenue 217,326 180,075 124,202
Operating costs and expenses:

Cost of services 184,489 145,263 100,587
General and administrative expenses 6,491 5,151 3,909
Depreciation and amortization 5,142 3,457 3,771

196,122 153,871 108,267
Income from operations 21,204 26,204 15,935
Interest expense 1,400 1,136 1,541
Income before taxes 19,804 25,068 14,394
Federal and state income tax provision 7,625 9,588 5,409
Income before accounting change 12,179 15,480 8,985
Cumulative effect of accounting change,

net of income taxes of $1,478 (2,361) – –
Net income 9,818 15,480 8,985
Dividends and accretion charges on preferred stock 766 377 –
Net income available to common shareholders $ 9,052 $ 15,103 $ 8,985

Basic earnings per common share:
Before accounting change $ .87 $1.26 $.83
Cumulative effect of accounting change (.18) – –

$ .69 $1.26 $.83
Diluted earnings per common share:

Before accounting change $ .82 $1.14 $.75
Cumulative effect of accounting change (.17) – –

$ .65 $1.14 $.75
Average common shares outstanding:

Basic 13,090 12,025 10,854
Diluted 13,917 13,571 11,935

Pro forma amounts assuming the change in the 
application of accounting principles for fixed price
contracts was applied retroactively:

Net income $ 12,179 $ 16,943 $ 7,317
Basic earnings per common share $.87 $1.38 $.67
Diluted earnings per common share .82 1.25 .61

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

In thousands, except per share data

As of June 30, 2003 2002

Assets
Current Assets:

Cash $ 5,120 $ 1,615
Accounts receivable, less allowances for doubtful accounts (Note 3) 99,758 90,895
Insurance recoverable – environmental remediation (Note 11) 2,361 478
Deferred income tax benefits (Note 8) 1,768 355
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,347 2,100

111,354 95,443
Property and equipment:

Furniture and equipment 36,985 32,542
Leasehold improvements 4,074 3,958

41,059 36,500
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 23,611 21,938

17,448 14,562
Goodwill (Note 5) 102,748 81,434
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates 5,355 5,918
Long-term insurance receivable (Note 3) 3,455 3,627
Long-term insurance recoverable – environmental remediation (Note 11) 14,397 1,262
Other assets (Note 5) 5,829 1,336

$260,586 $203,582
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt (Note 6) $ 1,894 $ 465
Accounts payable 14,441 13,480
Accrued compensation and benefits 10,773 9,560
Income taxes payable (Note 8) 866 4,389
Billings in advance of revenue earned (Note 11) 5,162 6,576
Environmental remediation liability (Note 11) 2,361 374
Other accrued liabilities 6,090 4,998

41,587 39,842
Non-current liabilities:

Long-term debt, less current portion (Note 6) 43,065 23,888
Deferred income taxes (Note 8) 8,062 7,038
Long-term environmental remediation liability (Note 11) 14,397 1,262

65,524 32,188

Mandatorily redeemable preferred stock (Note 7) 14,711 14,603

Commitments and contingencies (Notes 9 and 11)

Shareholders’ equity:
Capital stock:

P re f e rred, $.10 par value; 500,000 shares authorized, 15,000 issued as
mandatorily redeemable, liquidation pre f e rence of $15,000 – –

Common, $.10 par value; 30,000,000 shares authorized, 14,429,570 and 13,486,590
s h a res issued and outstanding, re s p e c t i v e l y, at June 30, 2003 and 13,497,806 
and 12,554,826 shares issued and outstanding, re s p e c t i v e l y, at June 30, 2002 1,443 1,350

Additional paid-in capital 92,157 79,487
Note receivable (146) (146)
Retained earnings 48,207 39,155

141,661 119,846
Less treasury stock, at cost 2,897 2,897

138,764 116,949
$260,586 $203,582

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

In thousands

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001
Cash flows from operating activities:

Net income $ 9,818 $ 15,480 $ 8,985
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by

operating activities:
Cumulative effect of accounting change 2,361 – –
Depreciation and amortization 5,142 3,457 3,771
Change in deferred taxes and other non-cash items 828 (214) 898
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, 

net of effects from acquisitions:
Accounts receivable 293 (8,425) (7,527)
Long-term insurance receivable (1,798) (1,581) (1,906)
Billings in advance of revenue earned (1,490) (4,189) 7,553
Insurance recoverable (current and long-term) (236) 4,326 4,153
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 503 139 (198)
Accounts payable 166 3,134 956
Accrued compensation and benefits (1,195) (816) 2,853
Environmental remediation liability (current and long-term) 339 (6,010) (2,573)
Income taxes payable (3,160) 1,881 3,335
Other accrued liabilities 542 (899) (530)

Net cash provided by operating activities 12,113 6,283 19,770

Cash flows from investing activities:
Additions to property and equipment (5,497) (4,624) (5,440)
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (19,218) (16,860) (5,038)
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affiliates (840) (1,683) (4,454)
Proceeds from sale of equipment – – 26
Decrease (increase) in other assets, net (34) (145) 96

Net cash used in investing activities (25,589) (23,312) (14,810)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of preferred stock, net of issuance costs _ 14,547 –
Net borrowings (repayments) under prior credit facility _ (21,000) (7,000)
Net borrowings under new credit facility 18,000 23,000 –
Payments on long-term debt and other (1,674) (323) (582)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and warrants 655 1,578 1,907
Cash payment in lieu of fractional shares on stock split – (9) –

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 16,981 17,793 (5,675)

Increase (decrease) in cash 3,505 764 (715)
Cash, beginning of year 1,615 851 1,566
Cash, end of year $ 5,120 $ 1,615 $ 851

Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid $ 1,274 $ 1,236 $ 1,582
Income taxes paid (net of refunds) 10,718 7,788 1,690
Liabilities assumed from acquisitions 6,891 22,296 3,683

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

TRC 2003 Form 10-K 3 1



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

In thousands, except share data

Common stock issued Treasury stock
Additional

Years ended Number paid-in Note Retained Number
June 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001 of shares Amount capital receivable earnings of shares Amount Total

Balances, June 30, 2000 11,511,494 $1,151 $41,127 $ – $15,067 942,980 $(2,897) $ 54,448
Issuance of common 

stock and warrants in 
connection with 
businesses acquired 143,868 14 2,272 – – – – 2,286

Exercise of stock 
options and warrants
(including tax benefits) 467,606 47 4,209 – – – – 4,256

Net income – – – – 8,985 – – 8,985
Balances, June 30, 2001 12,122,967 1,212 47,608 – 24,052 942,980 (2,897) 69,975
Issuance of common 

stock and warrants in
connection with
businesses acquired 992,096 99 27,768 – – – – 27,867

Exercise of stock 
options and warrants 
(including tax benefits) 366,100 37 3,722 (146) – – – 3,613

Dividends and accretion 
charges on preferred 
stock 14,266 2 320 – (377) – – (55)

Directors’ deferred 
compensation 2,746 – 78 – –- – – 78

Cash payment in lieu of 
fractional shares on 
stock split (369) – (9) – – – – (9)

Net income – – – – 15,480 – – 15,480
Balances, June 30, 2002 13,497,806 1,350 79,487 (146) 39,155 942,980 (2,897) 116,949
Issuance of common 

stock and warrants in
connection with
businesses acquired 748,154 75 11,032 – – – – 11,107

Exercise of stock 
options and warrants 
(including tax benefits) 131,718 13 884 – – – – 897

Dividends and accretion 
charges on preferred 
stock 45,545 5 654 – (766) – – (107)

Directors’ deferred 
compensation 6,347 – 100 – – – – 100

Net income – – – – 9,818 – – 9,818
Balances, June 30, 2003 14,429,570 $1,443 $92,157 $(146) $48,207 942,980 $(2,897) $138,764

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
In thousands, except share data

Note 1.  Company Background and Basis of Presentation

TRC Companies, Inc. (the Company) is a customer-focused company that creates and implements sophisticated
and innovative solutions to the challenges facing America’s environmental, energy and infrastructure markets. The
Company conducts it activities under one business segment which involves providing engineering and consulting
services to commercial organizations and governmental agencies primarily in the United States of America.

The consolidated financial statements include TRC Companies, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries, after elimi-
nation of intercompany accounts and transactions. Investments in affiliates in which the Company has the ability
to exercise significant influence, but not control, are accounted for by the equity method. Investments in affiliates
in which the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence are accounted for by the cost
method. Certain financial statement items have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Note 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Revenue Recognition – The Company recognizes contract revenue in accordance with American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position 81-1, “Accounting for Performance of Construction-Type 
and Certain Production-Type Contracts”. The Company records revenue on its cost-type and time and material
contracts based upon direct labor costs and other direct contract costs incurred. The Company has fixed price 
Exit Strategy contracts to remediate environmental conditions at contaminated sites. Revenue (and related costs)
from these contracts is recognized using the efforts-expended, percentage-of-completion method of accounting
based on total costs incurred to date as compared to total costs estimated at completion. 

Certain Exit Strategy contracts are segmented into two profit centers: (1) remediation; and, (2) operation, mainte-
nance and monitoring (OM&M) pursuant to SOP 81-1. Costs and revenue on long-term contracts are subject to
revision throughout the lives of the contracts and any required adjustments are made in the period in which the
revisions become known. Losses on contracts are recorded in the period in which they are identified. 

On contracts where billings are in advance of revenue earned, the excess is presented on the balance sheet as a 
current liability.

Change in Accounting for Revenue Recognition – In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company changed
certain elements of its application of the percentage-of-completion method of accounting to fixed price contracts,
effective July 1, 2002. Beginning in fiscal 2003, the Company measures progress towards completion based on
total contract costs, including direct labor costs, subcontractor costs, other direct costs and indirect costs. Prior to
fiscal 2003, the Company measured progress towards completion based on direct labor costs. For contracts where
subcontractor costs resulted in a more meaningful measure of progress towards completion, they were considered
for inclusion in labor costs. 

In the Company’s opinion, the new method more clearly reflects the Company’s measure of progress toward
completion of its fixed price contracts. The cumulative effect of the accounting change decreased net income by
$2,361 (net of income taxes of $1,478) or $.17 per diluted share, which is retroactively reflected in the first 
quarter of fiscal 2003 (see Note 12). Before the cumulative effect adjustment, this accounting change had the 
effect of increasing revenue, net income and diluted earnings per share in fiscal 2003 by $2,451, $1,507 and $.11,
respectively. In accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes”, pro forma
amounts are shown for net income and earnings per share on the accompanying consolidated statements of income
as if this change in accounting method had been applied for all periods presented.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets – The cost of intangible assets with determinable useful lives is amortized 
to reflect the pattern of economic benefits consumed, principally on a straight-line basis over the estimated periods
benefited. The Company’s policy is to amortize customer relationships with determinable lives over periods 
ranging from five to 20 years. Contract backlog and other intangibles with contractual terms are amortized over
the respective contractual lives. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangibles are not amortized, but are evaluated at
least annually for impairment. This evaluation is based on valuation models that incorporate expected future cash
flows and profitability projections. To date, there has been no impairment of these assets. Prior to fiscal 2002,
goodwill was amortized over periods not exceeding 40 years.
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Property and Equipment – Property and equipment are recorded at cost, including costs to bring the equipment
into operation. Major improvements and betterments to existing equipment are capitalized. Maintenance and
repairs are charged to expense as incurred. The Company provides for depreciation of property and equipment 
utilizing the straight-line method using estimated useful lives of three to 10 years. Leasehold improvements are
amortized over the shorter of the lives of the various leases or the useful lives of the improvements.

Long-Lived Assets – Management regularly reviews property and equipment and other long-lived assets, including
certain intangibles and goodwill, for possible impairment. This review occurs annually, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of the asset may not be recoverable. If there is indication
of impairment of property and equipment or amortizable intangible assets, then management prepares an estimate
of future cash flows (undiscounted and without interest charges) expected to result from the use of the asset and its
eventual disposition. If these cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, an impairment loss is recog-
nized to write down the asset to its estimated fair value. The fair value is estimated as the present value of the
future cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate with management’s estimates of the business risks. Annually,
or earlier, if there is indication of impairment of intangible assets not subject to amortization, management com-
pares the estimated fair value with the carrying amount of the asset. An impairment loss is recognized to write
down the intangible asset to its fair value if it is less than the carrying amount. Management compares the fair
value of the reporting unit to its carrying value to assess goodwill impairment. If the estimated fair value of the
related reporting unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognized to write down the good-
will to its implied fair value. Preparation of estimated expected future cash flows is inherently subjective and is
based on management’s best estimate of assumptions concerning expected future conditions. No impairments were
identified as of June 30, 2003. 

Earnings per Share – Earnings per share (EPS) is computed in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 128,
“Earnings per Share”. Basic EPS is based upon income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted
average common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilutive effect of outstand-
ing stock options and warrants and the conversion of the preferred stock. For purposes of computing diluted EPS
the Company uses the treasury stock method. Additionally, when computing dilution related to the preferred stock,
conversion is assumed as of the beginning of the period.

For fiscal 2003, assumed conversion of the preferred stock would have slightly increased rather than decreased EPS
(would have been “anti-dilutive”), therefore conversion was not assumed for purposes of computing diluted EPS.
As a result, 721 shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS. For fiscal 2002, assumed conversion of
the preferred stock was dilutive, therefore conversion was assumed for purposes of computing diluted EPS. The
following table sets forth the computations of basic and diluted EPS: 

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001
Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic

Income before accounting change $12,179 $12,179 $15,480 $15,480 $ 8,985 $ 8,985 
Cumulative effect of 

accounting change (2,361) (2,361) – – – –
Net income 9,818 9,818 15,480 15,480 8,985 8,985
Dividends and accretion 

charges on preferred stock 766 766 – 377 – –
Net income available to

common shareholders $ 9,052 $ 9,052 $15,480 $15,103 $ 8,985 $ 8,985 
Weighted average common 

shares outstanding 13,090 13,090 12,025 12,025 10,854 10,854 
Potential common shares:

Stock options and warrants 748 – 1,237 – 1,081 –
Contingently issuable shares 79 – – – – –
Convertible preferred stock – – 309 – – –

Total potential common shares 13,917 13,090 13,571 12,025 11,935 10,854

Earnings per share $.65 $.69 $1.14 $1.26 $.75 $.83 
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Employee Benefit Plans – The Company has 401(k) savings plans covering substantially all employees. The
Company’s contributions to the plans were approximately $2,578, $1,872 and $1,203 in fiscal 2003, 2002 and
2001, respectively. The Company does not provide post-employment or other post-retirement benefits.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments – Cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and the
Company’s subordinated notes as reflected in the financial statements approximate their fair values because of the
short-term maturity of those instruments. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. The carrying amount of the Company’s note payable 
pursuant to its revolving credit agreement at June 30, 2003, approximates fair value as the interest rate on this
instrument changes with market interest rates.

Use of Estimates – The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America necessarily requires management to make estimates and assump-
tions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
periods. Significant estimates in these consolidated financial statements include estimated costs to complete long-
term fixed price contracts, allowances for doubtful accounts receivable, estimates of future cash flows associated
with long-lived assets, fair value of long-lived assets, and deferred income taxes. Actual results could differ from
these estimates.

Credit Risks – Financial instruments which subject the Company to credit risk consist primarily of cash, accounts
receivable and unbilled costs. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and maintains 
an allowance for estimated credit losses.

Income Taxes – The Company uses the liability method in accounting for income taxes. Deferred income tax
assets and liabilities are computed for differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabil-
ities that will result in taxable or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable
to the periods in which the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Valuation allowances are established
when necessary to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. Income tax expense is the tax
payable for the period plus or minus the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the period.

Stock-Based Compensation – The Company applies the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 
No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees”, and related interpretations to account for stock options
issued. Accordingly, no compensation cost has been recognized in the Company’s consolidated statements of 
income for stock options issued as exercise prices were not less than fair value of the common stock at the grant
date. Had compensation costs for stock options issued been determined based on the fair value at the grant date
for awards under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation”, pro forma net income and earnings
per share for the years ended June 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001 would have been as follows:

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001
Income before accounting change $12,179 $15,480 $8,985
Cumulative effect of accounting change (2,361) – –
Net income, as reported 9,818 15,480 8,985
Less stock-based employee compensation expense determined

under fair-value based method for all awards, net of taxes 2,076 3,701 1,622
Net income, pro forma $ 7,742 $11,779 $7,363
Earnings per share, as reported:

Basic $.69 $1.26 $.83
Diluted .65 1.14 .75

Earnings per share, pro forma:
Basic $.53 $.95 $.68
Diluted .50 .87 .62
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In arriving at the pro forma amounts, the fair value of each option was estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001
Risk-free interest rate 3.2% 4.1% 5.8%
Expected life 5 years 5 years 5 years  
Expected volatility 50% 45% 45%
Expected dividend yield None None None  

The weighted average fair value of options granted during fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $6.14, $11.15 and
$5.07, respectively.

Comprehensive Income – The Company reports comprehensive income in accordance with SFAS No. 130,
“Reporting Comprehensive Income”. This standard defines comprehensive income as the changes in equity of an
enterprise except those resulting from shareholders’ transactions. Accordingly, comprehensive income includes 
certain changes in equity that are excluded from net income. There are no differences between net income and
comprehensive income for the years ended June 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards – In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation 45, “Guarantor’s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others” (FIN 45). FIN 45 clarifies the existing disclosure requirements for most guarantees, including loan 
guarantees such as standby letters of credit. It also clarifies that at the time a company issues a guarantee, the 
company must recognize an initial liability for the fair value of the obligations it assumes under the guarantee and
must disclose that information in its interim and annual financial statements. The initial recognition and initial
measurement provisions apply on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002.
The adoption of this interpretation did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) reached a consensus on Issue No. 00-21, “Multiple-
Deliverable Revenue Arrangements”. EITF No. 00-21 addresses how to account for revenue arrangements with
multiple deliverables and provides guidance relating to when such arrangements should be divided into compo-
nents for revenue recognition purposes. The consensus is effective for revenue agreements entered into in fiscal
periods beginning after June 15, 2003 with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently reviewing the 
provisions of this issue and assessing their impact.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation – Transition and
Disclosure – an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123”. This standard amends SFAS No. 123 to provide alterna-
tive methods of voluntarily transitioning to the fair-value based method of accounting for stock-based employee
compensation. SFAS No. 148 also amends the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 to require disclosure of the
method used to account for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method on reported results
in both annual and interim financial statements. The Company adopted the disclosure requirements of SFAS No.
148 in the quarter ended December 31, 2002, when the standard became effective for the Company. The Company
has no current intention to change its policy of accounting for stock-based compensation. 

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46). FIN 46
requires certain variable interest entities to be consolidated by the primary beneficiary of the entity if the equity
investors in the entity do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient
equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other
parties. The consolidation requirements apply to entities created before February 1, 2003 in the first interim or
annual period ending after December 15, 2003. Certain of the disclosure requirements apply in all financial state-
ments issued after January 31, 2003, regardless of when the variable interest entity was established. No additional
disclosures were required by the Company. The adoption of this interpretation is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s financial statements. 

In April 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities”, which amends and clarifies financial accounting and reporting for derivative instruments,
including certain derivative instruments embedded in other contracts and for hedging activities under SFAS No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”. SFAS No. 149, which is to be applied
prospectively, is effective for contracts entered into or modified after June 30, 2003, and for hedging relationships
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designated after June 30, 2003. The adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the
Company’s results of operations or financial position. 

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics
of Both Liabilities and Equity”, which establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain finan-
cial instruments with characteristics of both liabilities and equity. It requires that an issuer classify a financial
instrument that is within its scope as a liability (or an asset in some circumstances) and is effective for instruments
entered into or modified after May 31, 2003 and otherwise is effective at the beginning of the first interim period
beginning after June 15, 2003. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of SFAS No. 150
will have on its financial statements.

Note 3. Accounts Receivable and Long-Term Insurance Receivable

The current portion of accounts receivable at June 30, 2003 and 2002 is comprised of the following:

June 30, 2003 2002
Billed $ 65,029 $57,429 
Unbilled 39,131 36,292 
Retainage 3,313 3,025 

107,473 96,746 
Less allowances for doubtful accounts 7,715 5,851 

$ 99,758 $90,895 

Unbilled receivables represent billable amounts recognized as revenue primarily in the last month of the fiscal year.
Management expects that substantially all unbilled amounts will be billed and collected in the subsequent year.
Retainage represents amounts billed but not paid by the customer which, pursuant to contract terms, are due at
completion.

The long-term insurance receivables at June 30, 2003 and 2002 of $3,455 and $3,627, respectively, relate to
unbilled amounts on Exit Strategy contracts and represent amounts held by the insurance company and released 
as work on the project is completed.

Note 4. Acquisitions 

On July 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations”. SFAS No. 141 applies to all 
business combinations initiated after June 30, 2001. This standard eliminates the pooling-of-interests method of
accounting and further clarifies the criteria for recognition of intangible assets separately from goodwill. The 
purchase method of accounting was used for acquisitions in all years presented.

In fiscal 2003, the Company completed seven acquisitions with an aggregate initial purchase consideration of
$23,187, resulting in additions to goodwill of $11,462 and other intangible assets of $5,054 (see Note 5) of which
$9,492 is deductible for income tax purposes. The aggregate initial consideration consisted of cash of $10,876 (net
of cash acquired), approximately 524,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and $2,971 in promissory
notes. The Company may make additional payments for each acquisition if certain financial objectives, primarily
operating income targets, are achieved, with such payments resulting in additional goodwill. The four largest fiscal
2003 acquisitions were Essex Environmental Inc. (“Essex”), Cubix Corporation (“Cubix”), BV Engineering ( “ B V ” )
and D.D. Raviv Associates, Inc. (“Raviv”), which are discussed on this and the following page. 

In October 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of Essex, an environmental compliance and inspection
services firm headquartered in Half Moon Bay, California. Essex delivers environmental planning, training and
compliance management services to energy and infrastructure customers. The initial purchase price of $6,582 con-
sisted of cash of $3,442 (net of cash acquired), approximately 110,000 shares of the Company’s common stock
and a $1,250 three-year promissory note. The Company may make additional payments if certain financial objec-
tives, primarily operating income targets, are achieved in each of the one-year periods ending September 30, 2005. 

In October 2002, the Company completed the acquisition of Cubix, located in Austin, Texas, a major supplier of air
emissions monitoring and testing services for industrial, petrochemical and energy customers throughout the nation.
The initial purchase price of $4,084 consisted of cash of $2,031 (net of cash acquired) and approximately 127,000
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s h a res of the Company’s common stock. The Company may make additional payments if certain financial objectives,
primarily operating income targets, are achieved in each of the one-year periods ending September 30, 2005. 

In February 2003, the Company completed the acquisition of BV, a civil engineering firm located in Irvine,
California. BV provides expertise in planning and designing infrastructure projects for a variety of private devel-
opers and municipalities in Southern California. The initial purchase price of $3,506 consisted of cash of $1,860
(net of cash acquired), approximately 57,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and an $875 two-year
promissory note. The Company may make additional payments if certain financial objectives, primarily operating
income targets, are achieved in each of the one-year periods ending February 29, 2006. 

In March 2003, the Company completed the acquisition of Raviv, an environmental consulting and engineering
services firm located in Millburn, New Jersey. Raviv provides services in the evaluation, investigation and remedia-
tion of sites impacted by soil and groundwater contamination. The initial purchase price of $3,579 consisted of
cash of $1,695 (net of cash acquired), approximately 65,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and an $846
three-year promissory note. The Company may make additional payments if certain financial objectives, primarily
operating income targets, are achieved in each of the one-year periods ending March 31, 2006. 

In fiscal 2002, the Company completed seven acquisitions with an aggregate initial purchase consideration of
$37,358 resulting in additions to goodwill of $31,475 and other intangible assets of $775 (see Note 5) of which
$8,485 is deductible for income tax purposes. The aggregate initial consideration consisted of cash of $11,762 (net
of cash acquired), and approximately 947,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. Additionally, in accordance
with the terms of these agreements, the Company recorded additional purchase price payments of approximately
$2,636 in fiscal 2003 and $576 in fiscal 2002, with the payments resulting in additional goodwill. The additional
purchase price payments were earned as a result of the acquisitions achieving certain financial objectives, primarily
operating income targets. The two largest fiscal 2002 acquisitions were SITE-Blauvelt (SITE) and E/PRO
Engineering and Environmental Consulting LLC (E/PRO), which are discussed below.

In October 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of SITE, a transportation infrastructure firm head-
quartered in Mt. Laurel, New Jersey with offices in a number of other states. The purchase price of $23,963
(before additional purchase price payments) consisted of approximately 914,000 shares of the Company’s common
stock resulting in goodwill and other intangible assets of $21,052 and $583, respectively. The significant assets 
and liabilities acquired were accounts receivable of $16,669, debt of $5,663 and deferred income tax liabilities of
$5,944. The Company completed a buyout of a majority of the purchase price contingency during fiscal 2003. 
The total adjusted purchase price approximates $25,500 with the incremental fiscal 2003 payment resulting in
additional goodwill. 

In December 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of E/PRO, headquartered in Augusta, Maine, a leading
engineering firm in the design, construction and management of power infrastructure facilities in the Northeast.
The purchase price consisted of cash of $7,007 (net of cash acquired). Additionally, in accordance with the terms
of the agreement, the Company recorded an additional purchase price payment of approximately $527 in fiscal
2003 and $533 in fiscal 2002, with the incremental payments resulting in additional goodwill. The additional pur-
chase price payments were earned as a result of E/PRO achieving financial objectives, primarily operating income
targets. The Company may make additional payments in each of the one-year periods ending December 31, 2005. 

In fiscal 2001, the Company completed three acquisitions with an aggregate purchase consideration of $4,965
resulting in additions to goodwill of $2,821, none of which is deductible for income tax purposes. The aggregate
initial purchase consideration consisted of cash of $2,277 (net of cash acquired), approximately 93,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock and $805 in promissory notes. Additionally, in accordance with the terms of the
agreements, the Company recorded additional purchase price payments of approximately $2,606 in fiscal 2003
and $2,461 in fiscal 2002, with these payments resulting in additional goodwill. The additional purchase price
payments were earned as a result of the acquisitions achieving certain financial objectives, primarily operating
income targets. The Company also recorded adjustments to purchase price allocation of $(107) in fiscal 2003 and
$189 in fiscal 2002 for acquisitions completed in fiscal 2001 resulting in additional goodwill of $82. The largest
fiscal 2001 acquisition was Engineered Automation Systems, Inc. (EASI), which is discussed below.

In June 2001, the Company completed the acquisition of EASI, an energy, security and infrastructure firm head-
quartered in Tustin, California. The purchase price of $2,303 consisted of cash of $1,493 (net of cash acquired)
and 18,036 shares of the Company’s common stock. Additionally, in accordance with the terms of the agreement
the Company recorded an additional purchase price payment of approximately $1,433 in fiscal 2003 and $1,558
in fiscal 2002, with the payments resulting in additional goodwill. The additional purchase price payments were
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earned as a result of EASI achieving certain financial objectives, primarily operating income targets. The Company
may make additional payments in each of the one-year periods ending June 30, 2005. 

The Company recorded additional purchase price payments during fiscal 2003 related to three acquisitions 
completed prior to fiscal 2001 of approximately $5,014, with these payments resulting in additional goodwill. 
The additional purchase price payments were earned as a result of the acquisitions achieving certain financial
objectives, primarily operating income targets. The Company also recorded adjustments to purchase price alloca-
tion of $(296) in fiscal 2003 for acquisitions completed in fiscal 2001, with the adjustments reducing goodwill. 
At June 30, 2003 and 2002, the Company had liabilities for additional purchase price payments of $1,598 and
$2,751, respectively. These amounts are included in other accrued liabilities.

Operating results for acquired companies are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date of
acquisition. The following table provides unaudited pro forma results of operations for the years ended June 30,
2003 and 2002 as if current and prior year acquisitions had occurred at the beginning of the earliest fiscal year
presented. The pro forma results include adjustments for increased interest expense on acquisition borrowings,
amortization of intangible assets (excluding goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets) and related income 
tax effects. However, pro forma results do not include any anticipated cost savings or other effects of planned 
integration. Accordingly, such amounts are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have occurred if 
the acquisitions had closed on the dates indicated, or that may result in the future. 

Years ended June 30, (unaudited) 2003 2002
Gross revenue $331,430 $305,710
Net service revenue $229,397 $207,937
Income before accounting change $ 13,038 $ 17,284
Cumulative effect of accounting change (2,361) –
Net income $ 10,677 $ 17,284
Earnings per share – diluted $.70 $1.23 

Note 5. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

On July 1, 2001, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS No. 142
eliminates the amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets and requires an annual review for
impairment. Identifiable intangible assets with determinable useful lives will continue to be amortized. Beginning
July 1, 2001, the Company ceased amortizing goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. At that time, manage-
ment performed a two-step impairment test of existing goodwill and concluded there was no goodwill impairment.
For purposes of the impairment test, the Company has a single reporting unit, as defined by SFAS No. 142.

The change in the net carrying amount of goodwill for fiscal 2003 and 2002 is as follows: 

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002
Goodwill, beginning of year $ 81,434 $38,943 

Current year acquisitions 11,462 31,475 
Additional purchase price payments – current year acquisitions – 576 
Additional purchase price payments – prior year acquisitions 10,256 10,251 
Other purchase price adjustments (404) 189 

Goodwill, end of year $102,748 $81,434 
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Identifiable intangible assets as of June 30, 2003 and 2002 are included in other assets on the consolidated balance
sheets and were comprised of:

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002
Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

Identifiable assets with determinable lives:
Contract backlog $1,133 $ 785 $ 448 $240
Customer relationships 2,776 106 – –
Other 100 29 100 13

4,009 920 548 253
Identifiable assets with indefinite lives:

Trade names 1,593 – – –
Other 726 300 726 300

2,319 300 726 300
$6,328 $1,220 $1,274 $553

Identifiable intangibles assets are amortized over the weighted average periods of three to 24 months for contract
backlog assets, 15 years for customer relationship assets and six years for other assets. The amortization of intan-
gible assets for the years ended June 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001 was $667, $254 and $33, respectively. Estimated
amortization of intangible assets over the next five fiscal years is as follows: 2004 – $544; 2005 – $245; 
2006 – $201; 2007 – $201; and, 2008 – $189. Such estimates do not reflect the impact of future acquisitions. 

Had the non-amortization provision of SFAS No. 142 been adopted as of July 1, 2001, net income and earnings
per share for the years ended June 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001 would have been adjusted as follows:

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001
Net income:

Reported net income $9,818 $15,480 $8,985
Add back goodwill amortization (net of income taxes) – – 948
Adjusted net income $9,818 $15,480 $9,933

Earnings per share – basic:
Reported basic earnings per share $.69 $1.26 $.83
Add back goodwill amortization (net of income taxes) – – .08
Adjusted basic earnings per share $.69 $1.26 $.91

Earnings per share – diluted:
Reported diluted earnings per share $.65 $1.14 $.75
Add back goodwill amortization (net of income taxes) – – .08 
Adjusted diluted earnings per share $.65 $1.14 $.83 
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Note 6. Debt

Debt at June 30, 2003 and 2002 is comprised of the following:

June 30, 2003 2002
Note payable – revolving credit agreement $41,000 $23,000
41/4% - 73/4% subordinated notes 3,220 637
Capitalized lease obligations 739 716

44,959 24,353
Less current portion 1,894 465
Long-term debt $43,065 $23,888

The Company maintains a banking arrangement with Wachovia Bank, N.A. in syndication with two additional
banks that provides a revolving credit facility of up to $50,000 to support short-term operating and investing
activities. Borrowings under the agreement bear interest at Wachovia’s base rate or the Eurodollar rate plus or
minus applicable margins and are due and payable in March 2005 when the agreement expires. Borrowings under
the agreement are collateralized by accounts receivable. The weighted average interest rate on outstanding borrow-
ings at June 30, 2003 was 2.9%. The Company also pays a commitment fee of 1/4% on the unused portion of the
agreement.

The credit facility provides for affirmative and negative covenants that restrict, among other things, the Company’s
ability to incur other indebtedness, dispose of assets, pay dividends on its common stock and make investments. In
addition, the agreement includes certain restrictive covenants, including the minimum ratio of adjusted EBITDA to
interest expense plus the current portion of long-term debt and the minimum ratio of adjusted current assets to
adjusted total liabilities.

The Company was in compliance with all covenants as of June 30, 2003. The agreement was amended on June 30,
2003 to reduce the required minimum ratio of adjusted EBITDA to interest expense plus the current portion of
long-term debt at June 30, 2003 and for each quarterly period thereafter through March 31, 2004. The amend-
ment also reduces the required minimum ratio by which adjusted current assets shall exceed adjusted total liabili-
ties for the remainder of the agreement. The Company expects that it will meet all applicable quarterly financial
tests contained in the amended agreement in fiscal 2004.

Maturities of the subordinated notes during each of the fiscal years ending June 30, 2004, 2005 and 2006 are
$1,494, $1,027 and $699, respectively.

Maturities of the capitalized lease obligations during each of the fiscal years ending June 30, 2004, 2005, 2006,
2007, 2008 and thereafter are $400, $191, $96, $40, $2 and $10, respectively.

Note 7. Redeemable Preferred Stock

On December 19, 2001 the Company completed a private placement of $15,000 of a newly designated class of
Preferred Stock with Fletcher International, Ltd., an affiliate of Fletcher Asset Management, Inc. (“Fletcher”) of
New York City. The Preferred Stock is convertible into the Company’s common stock at a conversion price of
$36.72 per share. The Company also granted Fletcher the right, commencing on December 15, 2002 and ending
on January 21, 2004, to purchase up to $10,000 of one or more additional series of Preferred Stock under similar
terms and conditions. The Preferred Stock issued to Fletcher has a five-year term with a 4% annual dividend,
which is payable at the Company’s option in either cash or common stock. The Company will have the right to
redeem the Preferred Stock for cash once the price of its common stock reaches certain predetermined levels.
Following 48 months of issuance, the Preferred Stock is redeemable by Fletcher in common stock. On the five-year
expiration date, any shares of Preferred Stock still outstanding are to be mandatorily redeemed, at the Company’s
option, in either cash or shares of common stock. The Preferred Stock was recorded net of issuance costs of $453.
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Note 8. Federal and State Income Taxes

The federal and state income tax provision for fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001 consists of the following:

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001
Current:

Federal $6,569 $9,067 $4,484
State 1,069 1,598 609

Deferred:
Federal (26) (826) 302
State 13 (251) 14

$7,625 $9,588 $5,409

Deferred income taxes represent the tax effect of transactions that are reported in different periods for financial and
tax reporting purposes. Temporary differences and carryforwards that give rise to a significant portion of deferred
income taxes are as follows:

June 30, 2003 2002 
Current deferred income tax benefits:

Doubtful accounts and other accruals $ 3,054 $ 1,906
Vacation pay accrual 770 699
Other 277 25

4,101 2,630
Long-term deferred income tax benefits:

Loss carryforwards from acquisitions 362 529
Other 217 132

579 661
Total deferred income tax benefits $ 4,680 $ 3,291

Current deferred income tax liabilities:
Change to accrual tax accounting method on acquired companies $ (2,333) $(2,275)

Long-term deferred income tax liabilities:
Depreciation and amortization (5,794) (5,847)
Change to accrual tax accounting method on acquired companies (2,216) (1,800)
Other (631) (52)

(8,641) (7,699)
Total deferred income tax liabilities $(10,974) $(9,974)

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s consolidated effective income tax 
rate follows:

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001
U.S. federal statutory income tax rate 35.0% 35.0% 34.0%
State income taxes (net of federal benefit) 3.6 3.1 2.9 
Other, net (0.1) 0.2 0.7
Effective income tax rate 38.5% 38.3% 37.6%
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At June 30, 2003, the Company had approximately $1,033 of operating loss carryforwards available to reduce 
future federal taxable income. These loss carryforwards relate to certain acquisitions and expire in fiscal years 
2008 through 2021. Although utilization of these carryforwards is subject to certain limitations, the Company
believes that all of the carryforwards will be utilized prior to their expiration.

Note 9. Lease Commitments

The Company had commitments at June 30, 2003 under noncancelable operating leases for office facilities and 
equipment. The Company averages any defined rental escalation over the term of the related lease in order to 
provide level recognition of rental expense. Such rental expense in excess of the cash paid is recognized as deferred 
rent at June 30, 2003. Rental expense, net of sublease income, charged to operations in fiscal 2003, 2002 and
2001 was approximately $11,369, $8,092 and $5,900, respectively.

Minimum operating lease obligations payable in future fiscal years are as follows:

Years ending June 30, 
2004 $11,006
2005 9,671
2006 8,539
2007 5,993
2008 3,883
2009 and thereafter 7,013

$46,105 

Note 10. Stock Options

The Company’s non-qualified stock option plan for employees and directors, as amended, authorizes the granting 
of options, including performance-based options, with exercise prices at no less than the fair market value of the 
common stock on the date such options are granted. The option term is fixed by the Board of Directors at the time 
of grant, but cannot exceed ten years. Generally, options have a vesting provision whereby one-third vest upon
issuance, one-third vest after one year and the remaining one-third vest after two years. No accounting recognition 
is given to stock options until they are exercised, at which time the proceeds are credited to the capital accounts. 
The Company receives a tax benefit upon exercise of these options in an amount equal to the difference between 
the option price and the fair market value of the common stock on the exercise date. Tax benefits related to the 
exercise of stock options are credited to additional paid-in capital when realized.

A summary of stock option activity for fiscal 2003, 2002 and 2001 follows:

Years ended June 30, 2003 2002 2001
Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average
Options Price Options Price Options Price

Outstanding options,
beginning of year 2,473,626 $10.96 2,043,136 $ 5.74 2,002,482 $ 4.02 

Granted 254,400 12.87 685,425 24.78 546,975 10.75 
Exercised (56,718) 7.55 (223,601) 5.57 (444,956) 4.07 
Canceled (34,902) 21.21 (31,334) 11.72 (61,365) 6.25  
Outstanding options, 

end of year 2,636,406 $11.08 2,473,626 $10.96 2,043,136 $ 5.74 
Options exercisable 

at end of year 2,263,053 $ 9.69 1,820,587 $ 7.57 1,543,376 $ 4.65  
Options available 

for future grants 1,033,774 253,271 907,362 
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The following table summarizes outstanding stock option information by various price ranges at June 30, 2003:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted

Average Term Average
Exercise price Shares Price (Years) Shares Price
$ 2.75 - 4.00 787,450 $ 2.94 5.1 787,450 $ 2.94 

4.17 - 6.92 355,280 4.72 6.9 355,280 4.72 
7.25 - 11.92 691,078 9.33 7.7 558,190 8.72 

12.33 - 21.19 391,600 18.96 8.4 276,767 18.74 
24.86 - 33.94 410,998 27.60 8.3 285,366 27.65 

2,636,406 $11.08 2,263,053 $ 9.69

Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company has entered into several long-term contracts pursuant to its Exit Strategy program under which the
Company is obligated to complete the remediation of environmental conditions at a site. The Company assumes
the risk for all remediation costs for pre-existing site environmental conditions and believes that through in-depth
technical analysis, comprehensive cost estimation and creative remedial approaches it is able to execute pricing
strategies which protect the Company’s return on these projects. The Company’s customer pays a fixed price and,
as additional protection, a finite risk cost cap insurance policy is obtained from leading insurance companies with
a minimum A.M. Best rating of A- Excellent (solely American International Group) which provides coverage for
cost increases from unknown or changed conditions up to a specified maximum amount significantly in excess of
the estimated cost of remediation.

Upon signing of the contract, a majority of the contract price is deposited in a restricted account held by the insur-
ance company, and the Company is paid by the insurance company from such proceeds. Any portion of the initial
contract not retained by the insurance company is transferred to the Company and is included under current liabil-
ities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets under the item termed billings in advance of revenue earned.
This amount reduces as the Company performs under the contract and recognizes revenue. The Company believes
that it is adequately protected from risks on these projects and that adverse developments, if any, will not have a
material impact on its consolidated operating results, financial condition or cash flows.

Two Exit Strategy contracts entered into by the Company involved the Company entering into consent decrees
with government authorities and assuming the obligation for the settling responsible parties’ environmental remedi-
ation liability for the sites. The Company’s expected remediation costs (current and long-term environmental reme-
diation liability items in the consolidated balance sheets) are fully funded by the contract price received and are
fully insured by an environmental remediation cost cap policy (current and long-term insurance recoverable items
in the consolidated balance sheets). In fiscal 2003, the Company recorded, as a non-cash transaction, an environ-
mental remediation liability of approximately $14.8 million and a corresponding insurance recoverable related to
an Exit Strategy contract and consent decree entered into in that year. As of June 30, 2003, the remediation for
one of the projects is substantially complete and the Company has begun long-term maintenance and monitoring
at the site.

The Company indemnifies its directors and officers to the maximum extent permitted under the laws of the State
of Delaware. 

The Company’s indirect cost rates applied to contracts with the U.S. Government are subject to examination and
renegotiation. Contracts and other records of the Company have been examined through June 30, 1998. The
Company believes that adjustments resulting from such examination or renegotiation proceedings, if any, will not
have a material impact on the Company’s operating results, financial condition or cash flows.
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Note 12. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

In the opinion of management, the following unaudited quarterly financial information for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2003 and 2002, reflects all adjustments necessary for a fair statement of results of operations. All such
adjustments (other than the cumulative effect of the accounting change) are of a normal recurring nature.

First Second Third Fourth
Fiscal 2003 Quarter(1) Quarter(1) Quarter(1) Quarter Total
Gross revenue $78,812 $81,028 $75,094 $80,671 $315,605
Net service revenue 51,453 55,634 53,216 57,023 217,326
Income from operations 5,909 7,216 3,340 4,739 21,204
Income before taxes 5,656 6,888 2,954 4,306 19,804
Income before accounting change 3,478 4,236 1,817 2,648 12,179
Cumulative effect of accounting change (2,361) – – – (2,361)
Net income 1,117 4,236 1,817 2,648 9,818 
Basic earnings per share(2):

Before accounting change $.26 $.31 $.12 $.18 $.87
Cumulative effect of 

accounting change (.19) – – – (.18)
$.07 $.31 $.12 $.18 $.69

Diluted earnings per share(2):
Before accounting change $.24 $.29 $.12 $.17 $.82
Cumulative effect of 

accounting change (.18) – – – (.17)
$.07 $.29 $.12 $.17 $.65

First Second Third Fourth
Fiscal 2002 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total
Gross revenue $57,557 $65,533 $72,193 $74,241 $269,524 
Net service revenue 36,478 44,652 48,860 50,085 180,075 
Income from operations 5,518 5,302 6,963 8,421 26,204 
Income before taxes 5,230 4,973 6,700 8,165 25,068 
Net income 3,230 3,071 4,138 5,041 15,480 
Earnings per share(2):

Basic $.29 $.25 $.32 $.39 $1.26 
Diluted .26 .23 .29 .36 1.14
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The following table presents summarized quarterly financial data derived from amounts reported in the Company’s
September 30, 2002, December 31, 2002 and March 31, 2003 Forms 10-Q and as restated for the items discussed
below: 

First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter
As As As

Previously As Previously As Previously As
Fiscal 2003(1) Reported Restated Reported Restated Reported Restated
Gross revenue $78,715 $78,812 $80,207 $81,028 $74,275 $75,094
Net service revenue 51,356 51,453 54,813 55,634 52,397 53,216
Income from operations 6,212 5,909 6,496 7,216 2,660 3,340
Income before taxes 5,958 5,656 6,169 6,888 2,274 2,954
Income before

accounting change 3,634 3,478 3,763 4,236 1,387 1,817
Cumulative effect of 

accounting change – (2,361) – – – –
Net income 3,634 1,117 3,763 4,236 1,387 1,817
Basic earnings per share:

Before accounting change $.27 $.26 $.28 $.31 $.09 $.12
Cumulative effect of 

accounting change – (.19) – – – –
$.27 $.07 $.28 $.31 $.09 $.12

Diluted earnings per share:
Before accounting change $.26 $.24 $.26 $.29 $.09 $.12
Cumulative effect of 

accounting change – (.18) – – – –
$.26 $.07 $.26 $.29 $.09 $.12

(1) Subsequent to the issuance of the Company’s interim consolidated financial statements for the first three quarters of fiscal 
2003, the Company determined that adjustments to such interim financial statements were required for a change in method 
of accounting for certain fixed price contracts to remediate environmental conditions at contaminated sites and to correct 
certain errors in accounting for rental expense and indirect costs on long-term fixed price contracts.
In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company changed certain elements of its application of the percentage-of-com-
pletion method of accounting for contract revenue relating to certain fixed price contracts. The Company has restated its 
interim financial statements for each of the three quarters in fiscal 2003 to reflect the adoption of this accounting change 
as of July 1, 2002 (See Note 2). This change resulted in an increase in revenue of $294, $770 and $1,086 and an increase
in income before accounting change of $181, $473 and $668 for the first, second and third quarters, respectively. This
change also resulted in a cumulative effect adjustment of $(2,361) as of July 1, 2002.
Also during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company completed a review of its accounting for rental expense and for
the treatment of indirect costs on certain of its long-term fixed price contracts. The Company determined that adjustments
were required to (1) recognize rental expense on a straight-line basis over the life of the lease and (2) properly recognize 
revenue related to indirect costs on certain long-term fixed price contracts under the percentage-of-completion method. As 
a result, the Company recorded a lease liability of $1,629 and an unbilled receivable of $1,073 as of June 30, 2003 and 
restated its interim financial statements for each of the first three quarters in fiscal 2003 to reflect these adjustments. Such
adjustments resulted in an increase (decrease) in revenue of $(197), $51 and $(267), an increase in rental expense by $61 for
each of the first, second and third quarters with a corresponding decrease in income taxes of $99, $4 and $126. These
adjustments also include $312 ($192 net of income taxes) for the cumulative effect on earnings as of July 1, 2002, which 
has been reflected as an increase in operating costs in the restated results for the first quarter of fiscal 2003. The net impact
of these adjustments on prior years was not material.

(2) Quarterly results may not agree with the total for the year due to rounding.
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Schedule II - Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

Years ended June 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001
(in thousands)

Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged Balance at
beginning costs and to other end of

Year Description of period expenses accounts(1) Deductions(2) period
2003 Allowances for doubtful accounts $5,851 $3,036 $1,049 $(2,221) $7,715

2002 Allowances for doubtful accounts $4,284 $2,137 $1,188 $(1,758) $5,851 

2001 Allowances for doubtful accounts $3,205 $2,312 $ 231 $(1,464) $4,284 

(1) Allowances from acquired businesses.
(2) Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

On October 25, 2002, the Company filed a report on Form 8-K regarding the Company’s change in accountants
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003. There were no disagreements.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation and Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Based on their evaluation as of June 30, 2003, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
have concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information
required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SEC’s rules and forms.

Changes in Internal Controls

There were no changes in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rule 13a-15(f)) that occurred during the most recent fiscal quarter (the fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an 
annual report) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

Executive Officers

The following table presents the name and age of each of the Company’s executive officers, their present positions
with the Company and date of appointment thereto, and other positions held during the past five years, including
positions held with other companies and with subsidiaries of the Company:

Present Position and Other Positions Held 
Name Age Date of Appointment During Last Five Years

Richard D. Ellison    64 Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer (March 1997)

John H. Claussen 54 Senior Vice President (August 1992)

Martin H. Dodd 50 Vice President, General Counsel and 
Secretary (February 1997)

Glenn E. Harkness 55 Senior Vice President, 
TRC Environmental Corporation 
(September 1997)

John W. Hohener 48 Senior Vice President and Vice President and Chief
Chief Financial Officer (May 2002) Financial Officer, Entridia 

Corporation, Inc.; Vice 
President and Chief Financial 
Officer, Smartflex Systems, Inc.

Miro Knezevic 54 Senior Vice President (August 1998) Executive Vice President, 
TRC Environmental Solutions, Inc.

Michael C. Salmon 48 Senior Vice President (June 2000) Senior Vice President, 
TRC Environmental Solutions, Inc.

Information required by this item is contained under the caption “Election of Directors” in the Company’s Proxy
Statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held November 21, 2003, and such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required by this item is contained under the caption “Executive Compensation” in the Company’s
Proxy Statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held November 21, 2003, and such informa-
tion is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management 
and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by this item is contained under the caption “Principal Stockholders” in the Company’s Proxy
Statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held November 21, 2003, and such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information required by this item is contained under the caption “Certain Transactions” in the Company’s Proxy
Statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held November 21, 2003, and such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required by this item is contained under the caption “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” in the
Company’s Proxy Statement for its 2003 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held November 21, 2003, and
such information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedule and Reports on Form 8-K

(a) (1) Financial Statements of the Registrant

See Consolidated Financial Statements under Item 8 on pages 26 through 46 of this Report.

(a) (2) Financial Statement Schedule

See Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts under Item 8 on page 47 of this Report.

All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the information required is 
included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

On April 28, 2003, the Company filed a report on Form 8-K attaching a news release that updated 
guidance regarding the Company’s financial results for the third quarter of fiscal 2003.

On May 8, 2003, the Company filed a report on Form 8-K attaching a news release regarding the
Company’s financial results for the third quarter of fiscal 2003.

(c) Exhibits

3 . 1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation, dated November 18, 1994, incorporated by re f e rence from the
C o m p a n y ’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1995.

3 . 2 Bylaws of the Company, as amended, incorporated by re f e rence from the Company’s Form S-1 as filed
on April 16, 1986, Registration No. 33-4896.

3 . 3 C e rtificate of Rights and Pre f e rences of Series A-1 Cumulative Convertible Pre f e rred Stock filed with
the Secre t a ry of the State of Delaware, incorporated by re f e rence from the Company’s Form 8-K filed
on December 26, 2001.

* 1 0 . 1 Restated Stock Option Plan, dated November 22, 2002.

* 1 0 . 2 . 1 Te rmination Policy for Members of TRC Key Person Group, as adopted on December 1, 1998, 
incorporated by re f e rence from the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1999.

* 1 0 . 2 . 2 TRC Key Person Bonus Plan for Fiscal Years 1999 – 2005, as amended on January 25, 2002, 
incorporated by re f e rence from the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002.

1 0 . 3 Revolving Credit Agreement by and among TRC Companies, Inc. and its subsidiaries and Wa c h o v i a
Bank, N.A. (formerly First Union National Bank), dated March 20, 2002, incorporated by re f e re n c e
f rom the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2002. 

1 0 . 3 . 1 Amendments dated August 30, 2002 and September 16, 2002 to Revolving Credit Agreement by and
among TRC Companies, Inc. and its subsidiaries and Wachovia Bank, N.A., incorporated by re f e re n c e
f rom the Company’s Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2002.

10.3.2 Amendment dated Febru a ry 14, 2003 to Revolving Credit Agreement by and among TRC Companies,
Inc. and its subsidiaries and Wachovia Bank, N.A., incorporated by re f e rence from the Company’s
F o rm 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2002.

1 0 . 3 . 3 Amendment dated June 30, 2003 to Revolving Credit Agreement by and among TRC Companies, Inc.
and its subsidiaries and Wachovia Bank, N.A.
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10.5 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated October 9, 2001, by and among (1) TRC
Companies, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Parent”);  (2) TRC Infrastructure, Inc., a New York
corporation; TRC Infrastructure, Inc., a New Jersey corporation; and TRC Infrastructure, Inc., a
Virginia corporation; (3) SITE-Blauvelt Engineers, Inc., a New York corporation; Site Construction
Services, Inc., a New Jersey corporation; and SITE-Blauvelt Engineers, Inc., a Virginia corporation;
and (4) Joseph C. Mendel, F. Walter Riebenack, John J. Calzolano and John W. Gildea, incorporated
by reference from the Company’s Form 8-K filed on October 26, 2001.

10.6 Agreement, dated December 14, 2001, by and between TRC Companies, Inc. and Fletcher
International, Ltd., related to the sale of the Company’s Series A-1 Cumulative Convertible Preferred
Stock, incorporated by reference from the Company’s Form 8-K filed on December 26, 2001.

18 Letter regarding change in accounting principles.

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.

23.2 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* This exhibit is a management contract or compensatory plan required to be filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-K
pursuant to Item 14(c).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Company has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

TRC COMPANIES, INC.

Dated:  October 14, 2003 B y : / s / Richard D. Ellison

Richard D. Ellison, Ph.D., P.E.
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

/s/ Richard D. Ellison Chairman, President and October 14, 2003
Richard D. Ellison Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Edward G. Jepsen Director October 14, 2003
Edward G. Jepsen

/s/ Edward W. Large Director October 14, 2003
Edward W. Large

/s/ John M.F. MacDonald Director October 14, 2003
John M.F. MacDonald

/s/ J. Jeffrey McNealey Director October 14, 2003
J. Jeffrey McNealey

/s/ John W. Hohener Senior Vice President and October 14, 2003
John W. Hohener Chief Financial Officer 

(Principal Financial Officer)
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Richard D. Ellison
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Edward W. Large *
Formerly Executive Vice
President and Director of
United Technologies Corporation
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Formerly Chief Executive Officer
of Parker / Hunter Incorporated

J. Jeffrey McNealey *
Partner in the law firm of
Porter, Wright, Morris & Arthur

* Audit Committee Member

Officers
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Executive Offices

TRC Companies, Inc.
5 Waterside Crossing
Windsor, CT 06095
(860) 298-9692
Fax: (860) 298-6291
www.trcsolutions.com

Independent Accountants

Deloitte & Touche LLP
695 Town Center Drive
Suite 1200
Costa Mesa, CA  92626

Annual Meeting

The 2003 annual meeting of
shareholders will be held on 
Friday, November 21, 2003, at
10:00 a.m., at the Company’s
Executive Offices.

Investor Information

To order financial documents 
such as this annual report and 
the Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange
Commission, call or write us at:

Berkman Associates
1900 Avenue of the Stars 
Suite 2850
Los Angeles, CA  90067
(310) 277-5162
Fax: (310) 203-9717
info@berkmanassociates.com

Stock Exchange, Dividend 
and Market Information

The Company’s common stock is
traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol
“TRR”. To date, the Company has
not paid any cash dividends. The
payment of dividends in the future
will be subject to the financial
condition, capital requirements and
earnings of the Company. However,
future earnings are expected to be
used for expansion of the
Company’s operations, and cash
dividends are not likely for the
foreseeable future.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

American Stock Transfer 
& Trust Company
59 Maiden Lane
New York, NY 10005

Shareholders may call the agent’s
Shareholder Services Department
directly concerning stock
certificates and address changes at
(800) 937-5449.
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